
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Community Safety, 
Environment and Residents 

Services Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Monday 7 July 2014 
7.00 pm 

White City Community Centre, India Way, White City, W12 7QT 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Administration Opposition Co-optees 

Councillor Iain Cassidy 
Councillor Larry Culhane 
(Chair) 
Councillor Sharon Holder 
 

Councillor Steve Hamilton 
Councillor Harry Phibbs 
 

  
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Craig Bowdery 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 ( : 020 8753 2278 
 E-mail: craig.bowdery@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 
 

Date Issued: 
 

27 June 2014 
 

 
 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Community Safety, Environment and 
Residents Services Policy and 

Accountability Committee 
Agenda 

 
7 July 2014 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Committee member has any prejudicial or personal interest in a 
particular item they should declare the existence and nature of the 
interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or as 
soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a prejudicial interest may 
also make representations, give evidence or answer questions about 
the matter. The Councillor must then withdraw immediately from the 
meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote taken unless a 
dispensation has been obtained from the Standards Committee.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance, then 
the Councillor with a prejudicial interest should withdraw from the 
meeting whilst the matter is under consideration unless the disability has 
been removed by the Standards Committee. 
 

 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 To invite questions from members of the public present on issues 
relevant to the Committee’s remit.  
 
Members of the public with more complex issues are invited to submit 
their questions in advance in order to allow a more substantive answer 
to be given. Questions can be sent to the contact officer shown on the 
front page of the agenda.  
 

 

4. THE POLICE IN HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM   

 To receive a verbal update from Chief Inspector Simon Causer on local 
Police priorities 
 

 

5. CYCLING IN THE BOROUGH  1 - 7 

 To receive a report from the Head of Transport Policy & Network 
Management on cycling in the Borough and to understand the 
perspective of cyclists 
 

 



6. WORMHOLT PARK WORKS UPDATE   

 To receive a presentation on the works underway at Wormholt Park, 
with an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions 
 

 

7. AIR QUALITY  8 - 63 

 To receive a report from the Bi-Borough Environmental Quality Manager 
on air pollution levels in the borough  
 

 

8. WORK PROGRAMMING  64 - 79 

 The Committee is asked to consider the Work Programme of future 
items  
 

 

9. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   

 The following dates are proposed:  
• Tuesday 2nd September 2014 

• Tuesday 4th November 2014 

• Tuesday 13th January 2015 

• Tuesday 3rd February 2015 

• Tuesday 21st April 2015 

 

 

 



 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 
COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT & RESIDENTS 
SERVICES POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
7TH JULY 2014  

 

CYCLING IN THE BOROUGH 
 

Report of the Executive Director for Transport and Technical Services 
 

Open Report 

Classification:  For Scrutiny Review & Comment 
(delete as appropriate) 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 

Accountable Executive Director: Nigel Pallace, Executive Director for Transport and 
Technical Services 
 

Report Author: Chris Bainbridge, Bi-Borough 
Head  of Transport Policy and Network 
Management 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0208 753 3354 
E-mail: chris.bainbridge@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 This report gives an overview of cycling in the borough and current 

issues. LBHF has one of the highest rates of cycling in London and 
cycling has increased significantly in both LBHF and London as a 
whole since the turn of the 21st century , but many people are deterred 
from cycling because of safety concerns. This report gives an account 
of the measures we are taking to improve cyclists safety and 
encourage cycling. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the Committee review the report and comment on its contents to 

the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Technical 
Services and the Executive Director for Transport and Technical 
Services 

 
3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  
 
3.1 A key component of the Mayor of London’s and the Council’s Transport 

Strategy is to encourage an increase in cycling, as this can help reduce 
congestion and improve the efficiency of the road and rail networks, 
improve air quality and the health and well-being of individuals. Cycling 
has increased significantly since the turn of the 21st century both in 
Hammersmith & Fulham and in London as a whole but many people 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



are deterred from cycling because of safety concerns. There are also 
concerns in some areas about conflicts between cyclists and 
pedestrians. This report considers these issues.    

 
4. CYCLING IN THE BOROUGH  
 
4.1 Hammersmith and  Fulham already has one of the highest cycling rates 

in London, at 4% of all journeys compared with 2% for London as a 
whole, and the target in our LIP (Transport Local Implentation Plan) is 
to increase this to 7% by 2031. Cycling to work generally has a higher 
mode share  than other  types of  journey such as shopping. So about 
6-7% of LBHF residents currently cycle to work and this should rise to 
10% or so. According to our Travel Plan survey, the proportion of LBHF 
staff cycling to work in 2013 was 12% 

 
4.2 Transport for London’s (TfL) figures show that were 320,000 cycle 

journeys a day in London in 2001 and this had risen to 540,000 by 
2010, and increase of 69%. Department for Transport figures show a 
110% increase in cycling in Hammersmith & Fulham between 2000 
and 2010; this had dropped back somewhat by 2012 but was still 70% 
higher than the 2000 figure. 

 
4.3 Until 2009, the main vehicle for cycling improvements was the London  

Cycle Network (plus) which left the borough with a fairly 
comprehensive network of signed cycle routes. In March 2013 the 
Mayor of London launched his cycling vision, which has three main 
planks:  

• A small network of high quality “Cycle Super Highways” targeted at 
commuters. These include an east-west “Cycle Crossrail” which 
would involve a two way segregated cycle track along the elevated 
A4 Westway between Wood Lane and Marylebone.  Earlier plans 
included a cycle superhighway from Hounslow to Hyde Park Corner 
via Hammersmith, but it now appears that this will not be 
progressed.  

• A larger network of “Quietways” mainly using less trafficked streets, 
suitable for all cyclists including those who are less experienced. 
Potential Quietways in LBHF include a north-south route parallel to 
Fulham Palace Road  and Shepherds Bush Road, a route from 
Kensington and Chelsea into Central Fulham, and a route entering 
the north of the borough from the east at North Pole Road. None of 
these routes appear on the first tranche of Quietways to be funded 
by TfL, but the Mayor’s Cycling Ambassador, Andrew Gilligan, sees 
the Hammersmith gyratory as the main barrier to cycling in LBHF 
and it is included in TfL’s list of 33 to priority junctions for safety 
improvements. We do not yet know when the funding will be made 
available to us to start the work. It is to some extent linked with 
studies for the “Flyunder” which in itself would give opportunities for 
major improvements to walking and cycling. However, it will be 
several years before this can be built so we would expect 
improvements to the gyratory long before this.  

Page 2



• “Mini Hollands” at selected town centres in Outer London (so LBHF 
as an Inner London Borough was not eligible to apply). The 
successful boroughs were Enfield, Kingston and Waltham Forest.  

 
Mayor’s Cycle Hire Scheme 

 
4.4 The Mayor of London introduced his cycle hire scheme to central 

London in July 2010. It was expanded, mainly  eastwards to Tower 
Hamlets, with some stations around the Westfield Shopping Centre at 
Shepherd’s Bush. In December 2013 the scheme was further 
expanded to cover more of Kensington and Chelsea, the northern part 
of Wandsworth, the whole of Fulham, and the eastern parts of 
Hammersmith and Shepherds Bush. There are now some 60 docking 
stations in the borough, and the scheme is proving popular. In January 
this year, the first full month of operation, there were some 27,000 
docks and hires in the LBHF, and by May this had risen to 78,000.  It is 
too early to say what effect the cycle hire scheme is having on the 
modal share of cycling in the borough but anecdotal evidence suggests 
that it is contributing to an increase.  Before the scheme was 
introduced, there were widespread concerns about the safety of the 
scheme, but in fact the number of collisions resulting in serious injuries 
has been very low.  

 
Cyclists’ Safety 

 
4.5 The main reason people give for not cycling is concern for their safety. 

There have also been some highly publicised and poignant cyclists’ 
deaths in London, with three in one week last November. In 2013 there 
were 14 cyclists deaths in London, with the same number in 2012, 16 
in 2011and  10 in 2010, and between a third and a half of cyclist deaths 
in the last three years have been the result of collisions with HGVs. 
(see Section 4.3 below). 

 
4.6 In Hammersmith & Fulham, the number of cyclists injured had been 

increasing, with 154 in 2009, 167 in 2010, 171 in 2011 and 186 in 
2012, but this decreased to 166 in 2013. The number of seriously 
injured cyclists declined from 31 to 18 between 2012 and 2013. Most of 
the collisions take place on the main roads, where most cyclists are to 
be found, particularly at or near side road junctions. These include 
Uxbridge and Goldhawk Roads, Hammersmith Broadway,  and New 
King’s Road. We are planning improvements at all of these locations.  

 
4.7 Although HGVs are only about 5% of the vehicles on London’s roads, 

they account for between a third and a half of cyclist deaths. A high 
proportion of women cyclists are involved in these collisions. 
Hammersmith and Fulham is one of the pioneering boroughs in 
providing "Changing Places" mutual awareness sessions for cyclists 
and lorry drivers, and the council has together with TfL developed a 
Driver CPC (Certificate of Professional Competence) accredited 
training course which counts towards the 35 hours of training that all 
professional lorry drivers in Europe must complete by September 2014.  

Page 3



The Council has received an award from the London Cycling 
Campaign for its work in this area.  Since we started the scheme in 
2010 we have trained 534 lorry drivers and provided campaign 
information at the roadside to an estimated 4,000 cyclists. 

 
4.8 After each course the drivers are asked for their feedback; we ask 

them to rate 5 personal outcomes of the course on a scale of 1 to 4. 
Their scores below have been converted to percentages. 

• Effectiveness of on-road training : 89% 

• After this session, would you consider cycling to improve your 
health and fitness: 83% 

• My understanding of the needs of vulnerable road users has 
changed: 90% 

• My attitude towards vulnerable road users has improved: 91% 

• I will change my actions to give more consideration to issues 
faced by vulnerable road users: 91% 

 
4.9 We also offer cycle training to children and adults who live, work and 

study in the borough,  using national ‘Bikeability’ standards. This 
training gives people the skills and confidence to use the roads and 
negotiate with motor vehicles, thereby reducing behaviour for which 
there has been much criticism of cyclists in recent years, such as 
cycling on footways and running through red lights. In 2013-14 we 
trained 180 adults and 536 schoolchildren. We also provide cycle 
maintenance courses and provide all-ability cycling courses  Our 
current training contract is with an award-winning social enterprise, 
Bikeworks, which trains and employs former homeless people.  Cycle 
training gives cyclists the skills and confidence to ride on the road and 
makes them less likely to cycle on footways, a common source of 
complaints (see below). 

 
4.10 Highway engineering measures which have contributed to improving 

cycling safety include the provision of cycle lanes and cycle tracks, 
providing cycle contraflows in one way streets, installing raised tables 
at side road junctions (which helps to reduce the numbers of cyclists 
being hit by motor vehicles emerging from side roads), and the 
introduction of 20mph speed limits in residential areas.  

 
4.11 Hammersmith & Fulham Cyclists have expressed concern about 

cyclists’ perceptions of danger on Hammersmith Bridge and have 
asked the Council to introduce a 20mph limit there. The Council felt 
that it would not be possible to enforce such a limit effectively, but we 
did change the markings on the carriageway earlier this year to 
increase cyclists’ visibility to drivers, and we are currently monitoring 
the effects of these changes. There is no record of cyclist collisions at 
the bridge, and three of the main hazards to cyclists – HGVs , parked 
cars and junctions are not present on the bridge.    

 
 
 
 

Page 4



Measures to Encourage Cycling 
 

4.12 As well as the measures described above, we provide on-street cycle 
parking and installed an additional 171stands in 2013-14, bringing the 
total to around 2,500. This year we will be installing residents’ cycle 
parking in housing estates. These measures, and those described 
above, are funded by Transport for London (TfL) as part of our annual 
LIP (Local Implementation Plan) grant. In previous years, these 
measures were undertaken as part of the London Cycle Network, TfL 
as cycling measures are now generally undertaken alongside 
improvements for other road users as part of the Neighbourhoods, 
Corridors and Supporting Measures programmes, or local transport 
funding. We received additional funding from TfL in 2014-5 for Cycle 
and HGV training and the development of a new cycling strategy (our 
current one dates from 2004). We also bid for funds for a Cycle to 
School partnership involving a number of schools in the White City 
area and we expect to be notified of the outcome in August.    

 
4.13 Encouraging cycling is a key element of the council’s regeneration and 

growth policies, to enable development to happen without putting 
undue strain on the often congested road and rail networks. 
Developers are required to provide secure and convenient cycle 
parking, and particularly for workplaces, travel plans which will typically 
aim to encourage cycling by providing showers and lockers as well as 
parking. We work with schools on their travel plans, and these have 
resulted in a doubling of the proportion of children biking or scootering 
to school, from 5% to 10%.  

 
Space for Cycling 

 
4.14 At the end of 2013, the London Cycling Campaign launched its “Space 

for Cycling” campaign, a development of their earlier “Love London, Go 
Dutch” campaign which aimed to make conditions for cycling on the 
streets of London more like those in Dutch cities. Space for Cycling is 
defined as “Streets that have either protected tracks or lanes, or motor 
traffic volumes and speeds are at a low enough level that ordinary 
people can cycle in safety and comfort”. Borough cycling groups wrote 
to Council candidates before the elections asking them to support the 
Campaign, and with suggestions for particular improvements in their 
wards. LBHF officers have a summary of the “asks”, and will take them 
into account when developing  LIP corridor and neighbourhood 
schemes, and regeneration schemes, and in revising the Council’s 
cycling strategy. TfL have recently issued a consultation draft of their 
revised “London Cycling Design Standards” document which aims to 
incorporate some of these principles.  

 
4.15 TfL are interested in promoting “light segregation”, where cyclists need 

more protection than white lines but where complete separation from 
motor traffic is not appropriate, e.g. where businesses need access for 
loading. We will be trialling light segregation on part of Goldhawk Road 
as part of our Shepherds Bush Town Centre west  major urban realm 

Page 5



scheme. TfL and the LCC are also keen on “filtered permeability” 
where roads are closed at certain points to motor vehicles but cyclists 
and pedestrians can get through. LBHF already has over 50 such 
closures and they contribute to making attractive cycle routes, e.g the 
route parallel to Fulham Palace Road via Stevenage Road and 
Rannoch Road..         

 
 

Cycling and Health 
 

4.16 As well as helping to facilitate growth and reduce congestion, cycling 
can play a large part in improving the health of the nation. Regular 
exercise can help combat obesity, diabetes and heart disease, and 
cycling is a good form of exercise which can be built in to everyday life. 
The transfer of public health services to local authorities gives 
opportunities for greater co-ordination and synergy between health and 
transport programmes.   

 
Cyclists and Other Road Users 

 
4.17 Complaints about the behaviour of some cyclists are widespread, such 

as their riding on footways and travelling through red lights. There have 
also been concerns about conflicts between pedestrian cyclists  on the 
Thames Path. The council has aimed to alleviate these conflicts by 
encouraging cyclists to use alternative paths and routes where 
possible. For example, TfL have removed the prohibition on cyclists 
using the paths alongside the A4 between Hammersmith flyover and 
Hogarth Roundabout, so that there is an alternative to the riverside for 
faster commuter cyclists. We have introduced schemes which 
encourage cyclists to use the “back paths” through the Upper Mall and 
Furnivall Gardens, steering them away from the busy areas outside the 
Blue Anchor and Rutland public houses. The recent refurbishment of 
Bishop’s Park has included making the paths shared use rather than 
having a dividing line between cyclists’ and pedestrians’ area. This is 
because it was felt that having a separate area for cyclists encouraged 
them to ride faster, assuming it was “their” territory, whereas we wish to 
encourage cyclists to ride slowly and courteously and give way to 
pedestrians. There have been some complaints about the new 
arrangements but most of the feedback has been positive.  

 
4.18 In December 2013, the Metropolitan Police undertook “Operation 

Safeway”,  a London-wide ‘blitz’ on offences by cyclists and vehicle 
drivers, such as running red lights and riding on footways. In 
Hammersmith and Fulham, Penalty Charges were issued to 100 
cyclists and 174 vehicle drivers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Cycle Theft 
 

4.19 Another commonly cited deterrent to cycling is cycle theft. The table 
below shows that cycle theft in the borough declined between 2012 
and 2013. 

 
Hammersmith & Fulham Apr May Jun 
2011-12 Offences  115 126 118 
2011-12 YTD   115 241 359 
2012-13 Offences  105 97 115 
2012-13 YTD   105 202 317 
FYTD Actual Change  -10 -39 -42 
FYTD % Change  -8.7% -16.2% -11.7% 

 
YTD= Year to Date 
 

The police have mounted several successful “sting” operations in areas 
of high cycle theft (including Hammersmith Town Hall). 

 
Olympic Legacy 

 
4.20 The British cycling gold medals in the Olympics, the cycle road races 

which came through Fulham, and Bradley Wiggins’ victory in the Tour 
de France sparked a huge upsurge in interest in cycling as a sport.  
This will hopefully lead to an increase in everyday cycle trips. In order 
to keep the momentum,  the Mayor of London, Boris Johnson held  a 
festival of cycling, called RideLondon in 2013 and is repeating it in 
August 2014. Tonight’s meeting coincides with the arrival of the Tour 
de France in London following its visit to Yorkshire.       

 
 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Various accident and modal 
share statistics from TfL and DfT  

Chris Bainbridge 3354 Transport and 
Technical 
Services 

 

 
 

Page 7



 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT & RESIDENTS 
SERVICES POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 

7 JULY 2014 
 

AIR QUALITY  
 

Report of the Executive Director for Transport & Technical Services   
 

Open Report 
 

Classification:  For PAC Review & Comment 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All  
 

Accountable Executive Director: Nigel Pallace, Executive Director for Transport & 
Technical Services  
 

Report Author: Elizabeth Fonseca, Bi-
Borough Environmental Quality Manager  
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3454 
E-mail: elizabeth.fonseca@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. Attached as an appendix to this report is the 2014 Air Quality Progress 
Report, which reviews air quality data for the pollutants nitrogen dioxide 
and particulate matter and provides an update on the implementation of 
actions identified by the Air Quality Action Plan.  

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. That the PAC reviews the Air Quality Progress Report, and considers 
whether further Committee action is required.  

 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None    

 

Page 8

Agenda Item 7



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
2014 Air Quality Progress Report for  
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
 
In fulfillment of Part IV of the 
Environment Act 1995 
Local Air Quality Management 
 
June 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 1 

Local Authority 
Officer 

Ashley Brooks 

  
Department Transport & Technical Services Department 

Address 

6th Floor 
Town Hall Extension 
King Street 
London 
W6 9JU 

Telephone 020 7341 5271 
e-mail Ashley.brooks@rbkc.gov.uk 

  
Report Reference 
number 

 

Date June 2014 
 

 

Page 10



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 2 

Executive Summary 

This latest progress report reviews air quality data collected in 2013 for the strategy 
pollutants; nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM10).  
 
The second part of this report provides a summary of the implementation of the 
actions contained in the Air Quality Action Plan 2002-2005 (Section 9). The review of 
the Air Quality Action Plan for the 2013/14 period shows that progress has been 
made in most areas, although some actions have naturally slowed as they are 
reaching their limits of what can be achieved.  We have also seen increased 
collaborative working with our Public Health Team on raising awareness of the health 
impacts of poor air quality since public health has come under the remit of the local 
authority.  
 
The Air Quality Progress Report has found that exceedences of the nitrogen dioxide 
annual mean objective continued in 2013 at the majority of the 16 monitoring 
locations in the borough.  Exceedences of the hourly nitrogen dioxide objective are 
also likely alongside very busy ‘A’ roads and in the town centres.  This situation 
remains a concern.  
 
In terms of PM10, monitoring is carried out in 1 location, from which we only collected 
six months worth of data in 2013 due to a vehicle collision with the monitoring station.   
The station did not measure an exceedence of the Government’s annual mean 
objective although 33 daily means above 50µg/m3 were recorded in the 6 month 
monitoring period, therefore it is likely that the site would have exceeded the daily 
mean objective if monitoring had continued for the rest of the year. 
 
The lack of progress in reducing NO2 levels and the continued exceedence of the 
daily mean PM10 objective level are of particular concern, given the substantial 
reduction needed to meet the objective levels for NO2 and the EU time limit of 2015. 
The UK is the first of the EU‟s 28 Member States to receive enforcement action on 
NO2. This is the beginning of the legal enforcement process, which is likely to lead to 
the imposition of fines that may be passed on to regional and local government. 
 
The next stage in terms of air quality review and assessment work is to prepare and 
submit an Updating and Screening Assessment in April 2015.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 3 

Table of Contents 

1 Introduction 5 

1.1 Description of Local Authority Area 5 

1.2 Purpose of Progress Report 7 

1.3 Air Quality Objectives 8 

1.4 Summary of Previous Review and Assessments 10 

2 New Monitoring Data 12 

2.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken 12 

2.2 Comparison of Monitoring Results with Air Quality Objectives 17 

3 New Local Developments 26 

3.1 Road Traffic Sources 26 

3.2 Other Transport Sources 26 

3.3 Industrial Sources 26 

3.4 Commercial and Domestic Sources 26 

3.5 New Developments with Fugitive or Uncontrolled Sources 27 

4 Local / Regional Air Quality Strategy 28 

5 Planning Applications 29 

6 Air Quality Planning Policies 30 

7 Local Transport Plans and Strategies 32 

8 Climate Change Strategies 33 

9 Implementation of Action Plans 34 

10 Conclusions and Proposed Actions 45 

10.1 Conclusions from New Monitoring Data 45 

10.2 Conclusions relating to New Local Developments 45 

10.3 Proposed Actions 45 

11 References 46 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 4 

List of Tables 

Table 1.1 Air Quality Objectives included in Regulations for the purpose of LAQM 
in England 

Table 2.1 Details of Automatic Monitoring Sites 

Table 2.2 Details of Non- Automatic Monitoring Sites 

Table 2.3 Results of Automatic Monitoring for NO2: Comparison with Annual 
Mean Objective 

Table 2.4 Results of Automatic Monitoring for NO2: Comparison with 1-hour Mean 
Objective 

Table 2.5 Results of NO2 Diffusion Tubes 2013 

Table 2.6 Results of NO2 Diffusion Tubes (2009 to 2013) 

Table 2.7 Results of Automatic Monitoring for PM10: Comparison with Annual 
Mean Objective 

Table 2.8 Results of Automatic Monitoring for PM10: Comparison with 24-hour 
Mean Objective 

Table 9.1 Action Plan Progress 

 

 

List of Figures 

Figure 1.1 Map showing the Hammersmith & Fulham AQMA (whole borough) 

Figure 2.1 Map of Automatic Monitoring Site  

Figure 2.2 Map of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites  

Figure 2.4 Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations Measured at 
Diffusion Tube Monitoring Sites 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A:  Quality Assurance / Quality Control (QA/QC) Data 

Appendix B:  Automatic Site Monitoring results 2013  

Appendix C:  Monthly NO2 Diffusion Tube Results 2013 

Appendix D:  Calculations for annualised continuous and passive monitoring results 

 

 

Page 13



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 5 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Description of Local Authority Area 

The Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham is located on the western edge of inner 
London in a strategic location on the transport routes between the City and 
Heathrow. It is the 4th smallest of the London Boroughs in geographical area (1,641 
hectares or 6.34 square miles) and has the 3rd smallest population (179,850 
according to 2012 midyear estimates from the Office of National Statistics). It also 
has the 4th highest population density of any London Borough or indeed Local 
Authority in England.  
 
Much of Hammersmith & Fulham is residential in character and scale although the 
northern most part of the borough is more industrial, forming part of the Park Royal 
industrial estate and is also the location for a complex network of railway lines, 
depots and sidings, including 2 busy rail routes – the Great Western and the West 
Coast mainlines. There are also a small number of light industrial processes 
authorised by the council, although most of these are made up of dry cleaners and 
petrol stations. The borough is also home to Westfield London in Shepherds Bush 
town centre, one of the largest shopping centres in the UK, to 3 football teams, 2 
large exhibition centres at Earls Court and Olympia and is traversed by the A4 and 
A40, 2 of the busiest roads in west London.  
 
Main sources of oxides of nitrogen and small particulate emissions in the borough 
are road traffic, domestic and commercial gas boilers, trains and small industrial 
processes. 
 
Emission sources 
 
The emission sources of pollutants from within the borough are mainly from transport, 
residential and commercial activities.  A large proportion of the pollution however 
arises from beyond the borough’s immediate area including neighbouring boroughs, 
the urban area as a whole and further afield from national and European sources.  
The contribution of NOx and PM10 from the various sources within the borough in 
2010 is shown in the figures below (produced using data from the London 
Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, released in 2013).  Changes in the assumptions 
used for predicting emissions shows that emissions of NOx from transport are a 
bigger proportion than in previous inventories; this is likely to be due to a greater 
understanding that emissions reductions are not occurring as expected.   For PM10 
information is now also available for re-suspension, tyre and brake wear. Other 
sources which account for less than one percent are not shown (for NOx these 
include aviation, oil, fires, shipping etc). 
 
The latest inventory shows the most significant source of NOx is road transport 
followed by gas and construction emissions (based on modelling for 2010).  The 
most significant source of PM10 from within the borough is road transport (a 
combination of exhaust and road/tyre breakdown); however the next most important 
source is re-suspended materials and Non Road Mobile Machinery (note this will be 
based on assumptions regarding the level of construction activity in the borough).  
 

Page 14



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 6 

 

 
 
 
The charts below and overleaf focussing on transport emissions, show the 
breakdown of emissions of NOx and PM10 from different vehicle and fuel types. 
These show that emissions from diesel vehicles account for almost 90% of transport 
emissions of NOx and 90% of tail pipe emissions of PM10. Additionally for PM10 the 
total emissions which include tyre and brake wear emissions are also estimated as 
these are now included in the latest inventory. 
 
For NOx, cars (not including Taxis) are the main source at 34% of the total; however 
diesel fuelled cars contribute the larger fraction of this (21% of the total). Car sources 
are followed closely by buses (22%), then heavy duty vehicles (19% combining rigid 
and artic lorries), diesel LGV (12%), coaches (7%) and taxis (5%), as the main 
sources. While diesel cars (36%), diesel LGVs (24%) are the two main sources of 
exhaust emissions of PM10 . 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

1.2 Purpose of Progress Report 

This report fulfils the requirements of the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) 
process as set out in Part IV of the Environment Act (1995), the Air Quality Strategy 
for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland 2007 and the relevant Policy and 
Technical Guidance documents. The LAQM process places an obligation on all local 
authorities to regularly review and assess air quality in their areas, and to determine 
whether or not the air quality objectives are likely to be achieved.  Where 

Page 16



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 8 

exceedences are considered likely, the local authority must then declare an Air 
Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) 
setting out the measures it intends to put in place in pursuit of the objectives. 
 
Progress Reports are required in the intervening years between the three-yearly 
Updating and Screening Assessment reports. Their purpose is to maintain continuity 
in the LAQM process. 
 
They are not intended to be as detailed as Updating and Screening Assessment 
Reports, or to require as much effort. However, if the Progress Report identifies the 
risk of exceedence of an Air Quality Objective, the Local Authority (LA) should 
undertake a Detailed Assessment immediately, and not wait until the next round of 
Review and Assessment. 
 

1.3 Air Quality Objectives 

The air quality objectives applicable to LAQM in England are set out in the Air 
Quality (England) Regulations 2000 (SI 928), The Air Quality (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2002 (SI 3043), and are shown in Table 1.1. This table shows the 
objectives in units of microgrammes per cubic metre µg/m3 (milligrammes per cubic 
metre, mg/m3 for carbon monoxide) with the number of exceedences in each year 
that are permitted (where applicable). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 9 

 

Table 1.1 Air Quality Objectives included in Regulations for the purpose of 
LAQM in England 

Pollutant 
Air Quality Objective Date to be 

achieved by Concentration Measured as 

Benzene 
16.25 µg/m3 Running annual 

mean 
31.12.2003 

5.00 µg/m3 Annual mean 31.12.2010 

1,3-Butadiene 2.25 µg/m3 
Running annual 

mean 
31.12.2003 

Carbon monoxide 10 mg/m3 
Running 8-hour 

mean 
31.12.2003 

Lead 
0.50 µg/m3 Annual mean 31.12.2004 

0.25 µg/m3 Annual mean 31.12.2008 

Nitrogen dioxide 

200 µg/m3 not to be 
exceeded more 
than 18 times a 

year 

1-hour mean 31.12.2005 

40 µg/m3 Annual mean 31.12.2005 

Particulate Matter 
(PM10) 

(gravimetric) 

50 µg/m3, not to be 
exceeded more 
than 35 times a 

year 

24-hour mean 31.12.2004 

40 µg/m3 Annual mean 31.12.2004 

Sulphur dioxide 

350 µg/m3, not to 
be exceeded more 

than 24 times a 
year 

1-hour mean 31.12.2004 

125 µg/m3, not to 
be exceeded more 
than 3 times a year 

24-hour mean 31.12.2004 

266 µg/m3, not to 
be exceeded more 

than 35 times a 
year 

15-minute mean 31.12.2005 

 

  

Page 18



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 10 

1.4 Summary of Previous Review and Assessments 

 
The whole of Hammersmith & Fulham was designated as an Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA) in 2000 for two pollutants – nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particles (PM10). 
This was because the first stage of the review and assessment process had shown 
that exceedences of the objectives for these pollutants were likely over large areas, 
particularly next to the busy road network that traverses the borough. There was no 
need to designate any area as an AQMA for any of the other pollutants as all of the 
targets for 1,3-butadiene, carbon monoxide, lead, sulphur dioxide and benzene were 
shown to be likely to be achieved.  
 
Having declared the AQMA, a more detailed assessment was carried out in the 
borough which confirmed the AQMA designation and then work started on drafting 
and implementing the Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP), which was adopted in April 
2003. Progress with the Plan has been reviewed annually since 2004.  
 
Updating and Screening Assessments (USAs) have also been completed (in 2004, 
2006, 2009 and 2012), all of which concluded that the original whole borough AQMA 
should remain. The 2004 USA showed that further investigations were necessary for 
2 pollutants: (i) benzene (around a service station next to a busy road in Fulham) and 
(ii) PM10 (in the industrialised part of the borough around Scrubs Lane). Results from 
these assessments have been reported previously and showed that no further 
actions were required. The 2006 USA concluded that exceedences of the NO2 and 
PM10 objectives were very likely to continue, requiring the AQMA to remain in place, 
but no Detailed Assessments were required. The 2009 and 2012 USAs concluded 
that it was appropriate to keep the AQMA in place, although it was recognised that 
there may be a more consistent level of compliance developing, particularly in 
relation to the PM10 objectives. 
 
For all other pollutants (1,3-butadiene, Carbon Monoxide, Lead, Sulphur Dioxide), the 
USAs have concluded that the Air Quality Strategy objectives were likely to be met 
by the required dates, so no further action was required to control emissions of these 
pollutants. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 11 

Figure 1.1 Map showing the Hammersmith & Fulham AQMA (whole borough) 

 

 
 
 

Page 20



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 12 

2 New Monitoring Data 

2.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken 

2.1.1 Automatic Monitoring Sites 

The council’s new air quality monitoring station in Shepherds Bush town centre 
began measuring NO2 and PM10 in November 2011. A full set of data for 2012 is 
available, however 100% data capture was not possible from this station in 2013, the 
reason for this is included in Section 2.2. 
 
Figure 2.1 Map of Automatic Monitoring Site  

 

 

 

 

Page 21



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        13 

Table 2.1 Details of Automatic Monitoring Sites 

Site 
ID 

Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 
Reference 

Y OS Grid 
Reference 

Inlet 
Height 

(m) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In 
AQMA? 

Monitoring 
Technique 

Relevant 
Exposure? 

(Y/N with 
distance 
(m) from 

monitoring 
site to 

relevant 
exposure) 

Distance 
to Kerb of 
Nearest 

Road (m) 
(N/A if not 
applicable) 

Does this 
Location 

Represent 
Worst-
Case 

Exposure? 

HF4 
Shepherds 

Bush 
Urban 

roadside 
523313 179900 2.0 PM10/NO2 Y 

TEOM / 
Chemilumi-
nescence 

Y (1m) 2.0 Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 22



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 14 

2.1.2 Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites 

During 2013, 15 diffusion tubes were used to monitor NO2 levels at 8 roadside sites 
and 7 background sites, as shown in the map and table below.  Five new sites (2 
background and 3 roadside) were added in July 2013 to improve the coverage of the 
borough.  Only 6 months data is therefore available for these five sites.  
 

Figure 2.2 Map of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites  

 

Page 23



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 15 

Table 2.2 Details of Non- Automatic Monitoring Sites 

Site 
ID 

Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 
Reference 

Y OS Grid 
Reference 

Site 
Height 

(m) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In 
AQMA? 

Is 
Monitoring 
Co-located 

with a 
Continuous 

Analyser 
(Y/N) 

Relevant 
Exposure? 

(Y/N with 
distance 
(m) from 

monitoring 
site to 

relevant 
exposure) 

Distance 
to Kerb of 
Nearest 

Road (m) 
(N/A if not 
applicable) 

Does this 
Location 

Represent 
Worst-
Case 

Exposure? 

HF53 Addison 
Gardens 

Urban 
Background 

523813 179491 3m NO2 Y N Y (5m) 1m N 

HF45 Bryony  
Road 

Urban 
Background 

522479 180656 3m NO2 Y N Y (6m) 1m N 

HF44 Eel Brook 
Common 

Urban 
Background 

525413 176828 3m NO2 Y N N 50m N 

HF50 Fulham 
Broadway 

Urban 
Roadside 

525197 177302 3m NO2 Y N Y (15m) 2m Y 

HF32 Hammersmith 
Broadway 

Urban 
Roadside 

523327 178484 3m NO2 Y N N 4m Y 

HF66 Radipole 
Road 

Urban 
Background 

524680 176880 3m NO2 Y N Y (4m) 1m N 

HF63 Talgarth 
Road 

Urban 
Roadside 

524150 178363 3m NO2 Y N Y (14m) 1m Y 

HF61 Uxbridge 
Road 

Urban 
Roadside 

522861 180061 3m NO2 Y N Y (3m) 1m N 

HF54 Westway  
A40 

Urban 
Roadside 

522548 180960 3m NO2 Y N Y (20m) 3m Y 

HF47 Wulfstan 
Street 

Urban 
Background 

521984 181132 3m NO2 Y N Y (13m) 1m N 

P
age 24



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 16 

Site 
ID 

Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 
Reference 

Y OS Grid 
Reference 

Site 
Height 

(m) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In 
AQMA? 

Is 
Monitoring 
Co-located 

with a 
Continuous 

Analyser 
(Y/N) 

Relevant 
Exposure? 

(Y/N with 
distance 
(m) from 

monitoring 
site to 

relevant 
exposure) 

Distance 
to Kerb of 
Nearest 

Road (m) 
(N/A if not 
applicable) 

Does this 
Location 

Represent 
Worst-
Case 

Exposure? 

HF62 Cardross 
street 

Urban 
Background 

522750 179150 2.47m NO2 Y N Y (3m) 1m N 

HF65 Fulham 
Palace Road 

Urban Road-
side 

523890 176970 2.58m NO2 Y N Y (6m) 1m Y 

HF48 
Lillie Road 

Urban Road-
side 

524620 177680 2.55m NO2 Y N Y (4m) 1m Y 

HF64 North End 
Road 

Urban Road-
side 

524770 178150 2.67m NO2 Y N Y (13m) 1m Y 

HF60 
Waldo Road 

Urban Back-
ground 

522550 182790 2.46m NO2 Y N Y (4m) 1m N 

 

The lab supplying and analysing the diffusion tubes is Gradko, who use a 50% TEA in acetone preparation method. Full details of 
QA/QC procedures are included in Appendix A. 
 
 

P
age 25



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014    

2.2 Comparison of Monitoring Results with Air Quality 
Objectives 

2.2.1 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) 

Automatic Monitoring Data 

The data capture for HF4 was 53.3% for 2013 due to the site being involved in a 
vehicle collision mid way through the monitoring year.  The annual mean data has 
been annualised in accordance with the Technical Guidance (calculations are 
provided in Appendix D) and Table 2.3 shows that the monitoring station continues to 
exceed the Government’s annual mean objective.  Table 2.4 shows that the 99.8th 
percentile of 1-hour mean concentrations does exceed 200µg/m3 and that there were 
11 exceedences of the 200µg/m3 hourly mean within the 6.5 month monitoring 
period.   

  
Shepherds Bush Green is a very busy location. There are 4 lanes of traffic 
immediately adjacent to the monitoring station and this road is also a major bus 
route. The data shows a significant reduction in annual mean concentration from 
2012, however due to the low data capture this decrease may not be accurately 
represent reality. The 2012 Progress Report also noted that the annual mean NO2 
was likely to be higher due to construction and demolition works in close vicinity and 
the ground works on the neighbouring Green.  
 
The site can be considered to be representative of relevant public exposure as it is 
located in Shepherds Bush town centre where residents and visitors could be 
exposed both in the short and long term.  
 
As the monitoring station was only established at this site late in 2011, no data from 
previous years is available.  A graph showing the hourly nitrogen dioxide 
concentrations for the monitoring period is provided in Appendix B.  
 

Table 2.3 Results of Automatic Monitoring for NO2: Comparison with Annual 
Mean Objective 

Site 
ID 

Site Type 
Within 

AQMA? 

Valid Data 
Capture for 
Monitoring 
Period %  

Valid Data 
Capture 
2013 %  

Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3) 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 c 

HF4 Roadside Y 99.6 53.3 
No 

data 
No 

data 
No 

data 
92 76.2 

 
Bold text indicates an exceedence of the NO2 annual mean AQS objective of 40µg/m3. c 
indicates that the means have been “annualised” as valid data capture is less than 75%.  
Source: Londonair.org.uk. Data in italics is provisional and should be treated with caution. 

 

 

Page 26



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 18 

Table 2.4 Results of Automatic Monitoring for NO2: Comparison with 1-hour 
Mean Objective 

Site 
ID 

Site Type 
Within 

AQMA? 

Valid Data 
Capture for 
Monitoring 
Period % a 

Valid Data 
Capture 
2013 % b 

Number of Hourly Means > 200µg/m3 

2009 2010 2011 2012* c 2013 c 

HF4 Roadside Y 99.6 53.3  
No 

data 
No 

data 
No 

data 
74 

11 
(203.1) 

 
Bold text indicates an exceedence of the NO2 hourly mean AQS objective (200µg/m3 – not to be 
exceeded more than 18 times per year). c indicates that the means have been “annualised” as 
valid data capture is less than 75%.  Source: Londonair.org.uk. Data in italics is provisional and 
should be treated with caution. 

 

Diffusion Tube Monitoring Data 

 

Five new NO2 diffusion tubes sites were established in the Borough in July 2013.  The 
data capture for these sites is therefore only 50% for 2013, however these new 
locations will lead to better knowledge of the concentrations over a larger area of the 
Borough.  
  
There are now 15 NO2 diffusion tube sites in total.  Results are shown in Table 2.5, 
alongside results from the previous 4 years in Table 2.6. The data is adjusted to take 
into account any potential difference between continuous monitoring and the diffusion 
tube methods.  The bias adjustment factor is calculated by Bureau Veritas using data 
collected at the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea AURN affiliated site (this 
local bias adjustment factor was chosen over the National Bias Adjustment Factor as it 
is considered to be more representative of local conditions). The bias adjustment factor 
for 2013 has been calculated as 1.14.  Details of the analytical laboratory and bias 
adjustment methodology are described in Appendix A. 
 

In 2013, 3 out of 7 Background sites met the annual mean objective.  
 
All Roadside sites exceeded the annual mean targets with 6 out of the 8 sites showing 
annual mean concentrations that indicate that the hourly target could also have been 
exceeded (Fulham Broadway, Hammersmith Broadway, the Westway, Talgarth Road, 
Fulham Palace Road and North End Road). All sites showed higher levels of NO2 in 
2013 than in 2012. 
 

 

 

 

Page 27



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 19 

Table 2.5 Results of NO2 Diffusion Tubes 2013 

Site 
ID 

Location Site Type 
Within 

AQMA? 

Triplicate 
or Co-

located 
Tube 

Data 
Capture 

2013 (No. 
of 

Months 
or %) 

2013 Annual 
Mean (µg/m3) - 

Bias Adjustment 
factor = 1.14  

HF32 
Hammersmith Broadway 

Urban 
Roadside 

Y N 12 89.55 

HF44 
Eel Brook Common 

Urban 
Background 

Y N 12 37.89 

HF45 
Bryony Rd 

Urban 
Background 

Y N 12 
42.60 

HF47 
Wulfstan St 

Urban 
Background 

Y N 12 
49.66 

HF50 
Fulham Broadway 

Urban 
Roadside 

Y N 12 
75.34 

HF53 
Addison Gardens 

Urban 
Background 

Y N 
11 

(91.6%) 41.61 

HF54 
Westway A40 

Urban 
Roadside 

Y N 12 
98.42 

HF61 
Uxbridge Rd 

Urban 
Roadside 

Y N 12 
50.10 

HF63 
Talgarth Rd 

Urban 
Roadside 

Y N 12 
65.16 

HF66 
Radipole Rd 

Urban 
Background 

Y N 12 
38.07 

HF62 
Cardross Street 

Urban 
Background 

Y N 6 (50%)a 
34.69 

HF65 
Fulham Palace Road 

Urban Road-
side 

Y N 6 (50%)a 
63.60 

HF48 
Lillie Road 

Urban Road-
side 

Y N 6 (50%)a 
50.47 

HF64 
North End Road 

Urban Road-
side 

Y N 6 (50%)a 
64.64 

HF60 
Waldo Road 

Urban Back-
ground 

Y N 6 (50%)a 
42.80 

Bold text indicates an exceedence of the NO2 annual mean AQS objective of 40µg/m3.  
Underlined text indicates an annual mean > 60µg/m3, which could lead to a potential 
exceedence of the NO2 hourly mean AQS objective. a indicates that the means have been 
“annualised” as full calendar year data capture is less than 75%. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 20 

Table 2.6 Results of NO2 Diffusion Tubes (2009 to 2013) 

Site ID Site Type 
Within 

AQMA? 

Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3) - Adjusted for Bias a 

2009 
(BAF = 
0.92) 

2010 
(BAF= 
0.93) 

2011 
(BAF= 
0.94) 

2012 
(BAF= 
1.01) 

2013 
(BAF= 
1.14) 

HF32 Urban 
Roadside 

Y 72 72 64 77 89.55 

HF44 Urban 
Background 

Y 33 33 26 35 37.89 

HF45 Urban 
Background 

Y 35 35 27 36 
42.60 

HF47 Urban 
Background 

Y 42 38 35 41 
49.66 

HF50 Urban 
Roadside 

Y 71 64 61 71 
75.34 

HF53 Urban 
Background 

Y 35 34 27 36 
41.61 

HF54 Urban 
Roadside 

Y 69 70 54 77 
98.42 

HF61 Urban 
Roadside 

Y 44 42 35 43 
50.10 

HF63 Urban 
Roadside 

Y 58 59 48 56 
65.16 

HF66 Urban 
Background 

Y 34 34 27 33 
38.07 

HF62 Urban 
Background 

Y - - - - 
34.69a 

HF65 Urban Road-
side 

Y - - - - 
63.60a 

HF48 Urban Road-
side 

Y - - - - 
50.47a 

HF64 Urban Road-
side 

Y - - - - 
64.64a 

HF60 Urban Back-
ground 

Y - - - - 
42.80a 

Bold text indicates an exceedence of the NO2 annual mean AQS objective of 40µg/m3.  
Underlined text indicates an annual mean > 60µg/m3, which could lead to a potential 
exceedence of the NO2 hourly mean AQS objective. a indicates that the means have been 
“annualised” as full calendar year data capture is less than 75%. 
 

Figure 2.4 shows the annual mean NO2 concentration trends over the last 6 years at the 
10 diffusion tube sites.  The results from 2013 for the five new diffusion tube sites are 
not included on the chart due to only 6 months data being available.  
 

As expected, the lowest concentrations tend to be found each year at the Background 
sites (Addison Gardens, Eel Brook Common, and Radipole Road), most of which have 
met the 40 µg/m3 annual mean objective in recent years.  Both background and 
roadside locations have seen an increase in annual mean concentrations since 2011.  

Page 29



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 21 

The highest concentrations continue to be found in the town centres (Hammersmith 
Broadway and Fulham Broadway) and alongside the busiest roads such as the 
Westway A40. As well as exceeding the annual mean objective, these sites could also 
exceed the short-term hourly objective.  
 
All sites are representative of relevant public exposure, mostly being residential streets, 
town centre areas or public parks. 

Page 30



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        22 

Figure 2.4 Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations Measured at Diffusion Tube Monitoring Sites 

 

 
* The results from 2013 for the five new diffusion tube sites are not included on the chart due to only 6 months data being available. 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

C
o

n
ce

n
tr

a
ti

o
n

 µ
g

/m
3

Nitrogen dioxide diffusion tube concentrations between 2008 and 2013

Hammersmith Broadway (R)

Eel Brook Common (B)

Bryony Rd (B)

Wulfstan St (B)

Fulham Broadway (R)

Addison Gardens (B)

Westway A40 (R)

Uxbridge Rd (R)

Talgarth Rd (R)

Radipole Rd (B)

Annual mean

Indicator that site 

may exceed hourly 

National Objective

R = Roadside site
B = Background site

P
age 31



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 23 

2.2.2 Particulate Matter (PM10) 

As shown in Tables 2.7 and 2.8, the automatic monitoring station did not measure an 
exceedence of the Government’s annual mean objective or daily PM10 objective in 
2013, although the 90.4th percentile of the daily mean concentrations did exceed 
50µg/m3, (59.5 µg/m3).  33 daily means above 50µg/m3 were recorded in the 6 month 
monitoring period, therefore it is likely that the site would have exceeded the daily 
mean objective if monitoring had continued for the rest of the year.  
 
The data capture for HF4 was 45% for 2013 due to the site being involved in a 
vehicle collision mid way through the monitoring year.  The annual mean data has 
been annualised in accordance with the Technical Guidance (calculations are 
provided in Appendix D). 
 
The data presented here have been adjusted to gravimetric equivalent, using the 
Volatile Correction Method developed by King’s College London.  The data was 
adjusted using the Volatile Correction Model web portal and used FDMS data from 
Westminster, Horseferry Road (WM0), Kensington and Chelsea, Cromwell Road 
(KC2) and an average of the remaining FDMS sites within range. 
 
The site can be considered to be representative of relevant public exposure as it is 
located in Shepherds Bush town centre where residents and visitors could be 
exposed both in the short and long term.  
 
As the monitoring station was only established at this site late in 2011, only data from 
2012 is available. It is therefore not possible to provide a trend chart of PM10 annual 
mean results over the past 5 years. 
 

Table 2.7 Results of Automatic Monitoring for PM10: Comparison with 
Annual Mean Objective 

Site 
ID 

Site Type 
Within 

AQMA? 

Valid Data 
Capture for 
Monitoring 
Period % a 

Valid 
Data 

Capture 
2013 % b 

Confirm 
Gravimetric 
Equivalent 
(Y or N/A) 

Annual Mean Concentration 
(µg/m3) 

2009 2010 2011 2012 
2013 

c 

HF4 Roadside Y 95 45 Y 
No 

data 
No 

data 
No 

data 
38 36.4 

 

Bold text indicates an exceedence of the PM10 annual mean AQS objective of 40µg/m3. c 
indicates that the means have been “annualised” as valid data capture is less than 75%.  
Source: Londonair.org.uk. Data in italics is provisional and should be treated with caution. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 24 

 

Table 2.8 Results of Automatic Monitoring for PM10: Comparison with 24-
hour Mean Objective 

Site 
ID 

Site Type 
Within 
AQMA

? 

Valid Data 
Capture for 
Monitoring 
Period % 

a
 

Valid 
Data 

Capture 
2013 % b 

Confirm 
Gravimetric 
Equivalent 
(Y or N/A) 

Number of Daily Means > 50µg/m3 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 c 

HF4 Roadside Y 92 92 No data 
No 

data 
No 

data 
No 

data 
67 

33 

(59.5µg/m
3
) 

 
Bold text indicates an exceedence of the PM10 daily mean AQS objective (50µg/m3 – not to 
be exceeded more than 35 times per year).  c indicates that data capture for full calendar 
year is less than 90%, and the 90.4th percentile of 24-hour means is included in brackets. 

 

 

2.2.3 Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) 

 

There was no sulphur dioxide monitoring in Hammersmith & Fulham in 2013. 
 

2.2.4 Benzene 

 
There was no benzene monitoring in Hammersmith & Fulham in 2013. 
 

2.2.5          Other Pollutants Monitored 

 

No other pollutants were monitored in Hammersmith & Fulham in 2013. 
 

 

 

Page 33



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 25 

2.2.6 Summary of Compliance with AQS Objectives 

 

 
Hammersmith & Fulham council has examined the results from monitoring in the 
borough.  
 
Nitrogen dioxide 
For NO2, exceedences of the annual mean objective continue at all roadside sites 
being monitored, with the hourly mean objective very likely to be exceeded at the 
busiest locations.  The annual mean NO2 objectives were met at only 3 out of 7 
background locations in 2013, which is a reduction from 2012.  All sites recorded an 
increase in NO2 levels compared to recent years.   
 
The extent of these exceedences continues to have serious health implications.  At 
some individual sites, levels are close to or more than twice the annual objective 
level.  We continue to fail the government objectives and time is running out for this 
borough and other parts of inner London to meet the EU objectives by 2015.    
 
PM10 
For PM10, the limited data collected for the year showed that both the daily and 
annual mean objectives have been met at the council’s roadside site.  However, if a 
whole years data had been collected would have been likely to show that the daily 
mean objective would have been exceeded.   
 
It is likely that there are other locations in the borough that are close to or above the 
objective level for the daily mean objective, but we are only able to comment on 
those areas where monitoring is in place.    
 
Given the levels recorded, the whole borough AQMA will remain in place for now for 
this pollutant. No Detailed Assessment is required at this stage. 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 34



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 26 

3 New Local Developments 

3.1 Road Traffic Sources 

No new roads are planned.  
 

3.2 Other Transport Sources 

The Council continues to support the proposals for Old Oak Common to be the main 
interchange between High Speed 2 and Crossrail.  Old Oak Common is proposed to 
be a principal hub station which will play a vital role in taking pressure off busy 
central London terminals.   
 
There are no other new transport sources in the borough that need to be assessed in 
relation to: 
 

• Airports. 

• Locations where diesel or steam trains are regularly stationary for periods of 
15 minutes or more, with potential for relevant exposure within 15m. 

• Locations with a large number of movements of diesel locomotives, and 
potential long-term relevant exposure within 30m. 

• Ports for shipping. 
 

3.3 Industrial Sources 

Since the completion of the last Updating and Screening Assessment in 2012, there 
are no new industrial sources in the borough that need to be assessed in relation to: 
 

• Industrial installations: new or proposed installations for which an air 
quality assessment has been carried out. 

• Industrial installations: existing installations where emissions have 
increased substantially or new relevant exposure has been introduced. 

• Industrial installations: new or significantly changed installations with no 
previous air quality assessment. 

• Major fuel storage depots storing petrol. 
• Petrol stations. 
• Poultry farms. 

 

3.4 Commercial and Domestic Sources 

There are no new/newly identified commercial or domestic sources which have not 
been considered as part of a planning application.  However CHP plant, which is not 
currently included in the requirements for updating and screening assessments, is 
being widely installed in existing and new buildings resulting in power generation in 

Page 35



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 27 

urban areas which emit much higher levels of NOx emissions per kWh than gas 
boilers.  
 

3.5 New Developments with Fugitive or Uncontrolled 
Sources 

Since the completion of the last Updating and Screening Assessment in 2012, there 
are no new developments with fugitive/uncontrolled sources in the borough that need 
to be assessed in relation to: 

 
• Landfill sites. 
• Quarries. 
• Unmade haulage roads on industrial sites. 
• Waste transfer stations, etc. 
• Other potential sources of fugitive particulate emissions. 

 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council confirms that there are no new or newly identified 
local developments which may have an impact on air quality within the Local 
Authority area. 

Page 36



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 28 

4 Local / Regional Air Quality Strategy 

In February this year the European Commission sent the Government a ‘Letter of 
Formal Notice’ for breaching NO2 limit values in 16 of 43 zones including London.  
The UK is the first of the EU’s 28 Member States to receive enforcement action on 
NO2.  This is the beginning of the legal enforcement process, which is likely to lead to 
the imposition of fines that may be passed on to regional and local government.   
 
In April, Public Health England published a report providing estimates of the number 
of deaths that can be attributed to long-term exposure to particulate air pollution for 
each UK local authority area.  In Hammersmith and Fulham the estimates show that 
in 2010 7.9 per cent of deaths (equivalent to 72) were attributable to particulate 
pollution.  These are similar estimates to the other inner London Boroughs.  
 
In view of these two developments highlighting the seriousness of the air pollution 
situation, we will continue to raise the profile of air quality within the Council.  A 
recent change in administration may also provide new opportunities to give air quality 
a higher priority within the Council’s agenda.  With new Tri and Bi-Borough working 
with Kensington and Chelsea and City of Westminster, particularly in the Public 
Health arena, we are optimistic that progress will be made with regards to a local air 
quality strategy.  
 
 

Page 37



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 29 

5 Planning Applications 

 
The Council ensures that air quality is a consideration from the early planning stages. 
Developers are asked to follow the guidance within the Council’s Planning 
Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), adopted in July 2013 to 
ensure that our preferred approach is taken (for more information on the Council’s 
planning policies see Section 6).   
 
Major planning applications which have been granted permission during April 2013 –
March 2014 and are subject to conditions or section106 agreements that require an 
air quality assessment and low emission strategy include (not a complete list): 
 

• Former BBC Television Centre 

• Earls Court (and West Kensington) opportunity area reserved matters 
applications 

• Land to the north of Westfield Shopping Centre 
 
Requests for the discharge of conditions on major sites are also a significant process 
which involves discussions with developers to ensure that low emission strategies 
are implemented, and that methods to control and monitor construction impacts are 
in place.  In 2013/2014 this included the following sites:  
 

• Seagrave Road Car Park development site, 

• Palingswick House, King Street 

• 258-264 Goldhawk Road 
 

In addition, to ensure air quality considerations are fully incorporated in the 
development proposals, including the energy strategy (which can have a 
considerable impact on air quality), early discussions are essential.  To assist with 
this, we respond to site specific Supplementary Planning Documents, scoping 
reports, and take part in pre application discussions and provide written comments. 
The pre-application discussions that take place before formal applications are 
submitted for major and strategic redevelopment schemes can be useful to highlight 
the Council’s position and drawing the developer’s attention to the Council’s Planning 
Obligations SPD.  For example, in 2013/14 this included the M&S Depot Site, Albert 
Wharf, Fulham Gasholders, Former BBC Television Centre and Westfield Extension.  
 

 

Page 38



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 30 

6 Air Quality Planning Policies 

 
The Local Development Framework (LDF) is a suite of planning documents which 
outline the borough's planning policies, including the Core Strategy (adopted Oct 
2011), the Development Management Local Plan (adopted July 2013) and 
supplementary planning guidance. 
 
The Core Strategy forms the basis for planning policy in the borough.  The 
Development Management Local Plan sets out development management policies to 
be used in determining individual planning applications in conjunction with the 
policies included in the adopted Core Strategy. 
 
The Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Guidance, provides detailed 
supplementary guidance on various topics, including air quality to support policies 
within the Core Strategy and Development Management Local Plan. 
 
The relevant policies included in the Core Strategy and Development Management 
Local Plan are: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Core Strategy Policy: 
 

Borough Wide Strategic Policy - CC4 
Protecting and enhancing environmental quality  

 
The council will support measures to protect and enhance the environmental quality of 
the borough including harmful emissions to land, air and water and the remediation of 
contaminated land. It will work with partner organisations to help deliver this. In 
particular, measures will be taken to: 
 

• reduce levels of local air pollution and improve air quality in line with the national 
air quality objectives and the council’s Air Quality Action Plan; 

• minimise the impact of noise, by managing the development and distribution of 
noise-making and noise-sensitive developments in the borough; 

• minimise the impact of light pollution; and 

Page 39



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 31 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The wording of Policy DM H8 is due to be updated in the near future to ensure that it 
is robust enough to encompass all the developments that are likely to impact local air 
quality or be impacted by poor air quality.   
 
The Council’s Planning Obligations SPD adopted in 2013, sets out our requirements 
for reducing air pollution emissions from new development, conversions and change 
of use. The SPD is a significant material planning consideration when determining 
applications for planning permission.  
 
A detailed study of air quality impacts from major developments will be required for 
those developments that require an Environmental Impact Assessment, a permit 
application under the Pollution Prevention and Control Regime, developments that 
could have significant impacts on air quality; introduce new exposure in poor air 
quality areas and include large scale demolition/construction phases.  Air quality 
assessments must assess impacts in terms of additional emissions of NO2 and 
PM10 as well as showing the expected effects on local concentrations of these 
pollutants. If there are sensitive receptors in the vicinity, then the assessment should 
model likely impacts at these specific locations. If exceedences of the national 
objectives are shown, then suitable mitigation measures should be proposed to 
reduce exposure.  
 
Developers are also expected to assess the impacts that demolition and construction 
works may have on local air quality by undertaking a risk assessment using the 
Mayor of London Best Practice Guidance and expected to include appropriate 
measures in their construction management plans. 
 

 

Development Management Local Plan Policy: 
 

Policy - DM H8 
Air quality 
 
The council will seek to reduce the potential adverse air quality impacts of new 
major developments by: 
 

• Requiring all major developments to provide an air quality assessment that 
considers the potential impacts of pollution from the development on the site and on 
neighbouring areas and also considers the potential for exposure to pollution levels 
above the Government’s air quality objective concentration targets; 

• Requiring mitigation measures to be implemented to reduce emissions, particularly 
of nitrogen oxides and small particles, where assessments show that developments 
could cause a significant worsening of local air quality or contribute to exceedances 
of the Government’s air quality objectives; and 

• Requiring mitigation measures that reduce exposure to acceptable levels where 
developments are proposed that could result in the occupants being particularly 
affected by poor air quality. 

 

Page 40



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 32 

7 Local Transport Plans and Strategies 

The Mayor of London published his Transport Strategy (MTS) in May 2010 and 
asked all London boroughs to produce Local Implementation Plans (LIPs) to show 
how they will support the Strategy locally.  Our LIP, which covers the period 2011 to 
2031 sets out how we intend to implement the Mayor's Transport Strategy, as well as 
our other local transport-related priorities. We have prepared our LIP in line with LIP 
Guidance from Transport for London who will be assessing all LIPs on behalf of the 
Mayor of London. 
 
Our Transport Objectives reflect local issues and priorities as well as the goals of the 
MTS and the challenges identified in TfL’s evolving Sub-Regional Transport Plans.  
 
Our Objectives are set out below: 

• Serve the five major regeneration areas in the borough - White City, North 
Fulham area, South Fulham Riverside, Hammersmith Town Centre and Old 
Oak Common 

• Improve the efficiency of our road network 

• Improve the quality of our streets 

• Improve air quality in the borough 

• Make it easier for everyone to gain access to transport opportunities 

• Support residents and businesses by controlling parking spaces fairly 

• Reduce the number of people injured and killed on our streets 
 

The document is available on the Council’s Web Pages. 
 
Funding has been secured through the LIP to be used for a number of air quality 
projects,   including a dust and PM10 suppression project in the industrial area around 
Scrubs Lane and a project installing Green Infrastructure in Hammersmith Town 
Centre.   
 

Page 41



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 33 

8 Climate Change Strategies 

The Council demonstrated its commitment to tackling climate change by signing the 
Nottingham Declaration in February 2007 which requires the council to contribute, at 
a local level, to addressing the causes and impacts of climate change.  The Council 
also joined the Carbon Trust Local Authority Carbon Management Programme in 
May 2009 to assist us in developing a plan to reduce our energy use. 
 
As part of the Carbon Management Programme, the Council has produced a Carbon 
Management Plan which sets out key initiatives for the council to reduce its carbon 
emissions and has set a carbon reduction target of 40%, to be achieved by March  
2016.    
 
This will be done by implementation of the following actions: 

• Rationalising the space that the council occupies and where buildings are 
retained reducing their energy use; 

• Improving the energy efficiency and carbon footprint of secondary schools 
through the Building Schools for the Future (BSF) programme and 
implementing energy efficiency projects in primary schools; 

• Replacing and improving street lighting; 
• Raising energy awareness with all council employees and schools to reduce 

the use of energy; 
 
The above actions are likely to also reduce local air pollutant emissions.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 34 

9 Implementation of Action Plans 

 

The review of the Air Quality Action Plan for the 2013/14 period shows that progress 
has been made in most areas, although some actions have naturally slowed as they 
are reaching their limits of what can be achieved.  2013/14 saw a continued rise in 
the number of green parking permits issued as well as excellent take up of the 
Mayor’s Cycle Hire Scheme when it went live in December 2013.  This shows a move 
towards the use of more sustainable modes of transport in the borough which will aid 
the reduction of NO2 and PM10 concentrations.  
 
Continuing on a transport theme, the Council continues to implement traffic reduction 
schemes in various areas of the borough, along with completing the first phase of 
studies into the possibility of creating a Hammersmith Fly Under along the Talgarth 
Road, one of the boroughs most polluted highways.  For the schools in the borough 
that have active travel plans, car usage is now below 15% with more active travel 
modes such as scooting and walking increasing to over 50%.  
 
The Council is also embarking on a Greening Business Project that aims to reduce 
the environmental impact of small and medium sized enterprises (SME’s) in the 
borough.  Air pollutant emissions will be reduced as part of this work which will look 
at the businesses energy and transport related emissions and suggest how they can 
be reduced. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 43



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        35 

 

Table 9.1 Action Plan Progress  

Action Plan 
Measure 

Original 
Timescale 

Previously reported Progress  
 

Previously Reported Outcomes  
 

New Progress, Outcomes and Additional 
Comments for  2013/14 

REDUCING EMISSIONS AT SOURCE 
1. Encourage 
improved 
availability of 
alternative fuels 

Summer 2003  a) There continues to be 2 service stations in the 
borough where forecourt LPG is available – BP 
Connect on Talgarth Road by Hammersmith Flyover 
and BP Connect Shepherd’s Bush Green. 
 
 
b) Six electric vehicle charging points were installed 
as part of the SWELTRAC project (2 points at 3  
sites: Hammersmith Hospital, Charing Cross 
Hospital and Kings Mall Shopping Centre). There  
are also 30 Charging points at the Westfield  
shopping centre in Shepherds Bush. 
 
c) Diesel vehicles continue to use 5% biodiesel fuel. 
Fleet MOT emissions tests have shown  a reduction 
in smoke emissions. 

a) The London Plan includes a policy that requires 
1 in 5 parking spaces in major new developments 
to provide an electrical charging point to 
encourage the uptake of electric vehicles. This 
policy is implemented by the council.  
 
b) No further expansion of the off-street charging 
infrastructure. Consideration of installing on-street 
charging points have not been pursued due to 
parking stress in the borough. However off street 
charging points are required as part of major 
planning applications in line with London Plan 
policy.  
 
c) Diesel vehicles continue to use 5% biodiesel 
fuel.  
 

a) The London Plan policy continues to be 
implemented by the Council.  
 
b) There has been no further expansion of the off-
street charging infrastructure.  

2. Provide 
incentives for 
use of 
alternative fuels 
 
  

From Summer 
2003 onwards 
  

a) Impacts are difficult to assess – BP does not like 
to provide sales figures for LPG or any off their fuels 
due to commercial confidentiality.  
 
b) 650 ‘green’ parking permits issued for electric, 
gas or dual fuel cars in 2010/11; 743 issued in 
2011/12. 

a) As previously reported. No new activities for 
this measure. 
 
b) In 2012/13, 764 ‘green’ parking permits issued.   

a) As previously reported. No new activities for this 
measure. 
 
b) In 2013/14, 849 ‘green’ parking permits issued.   

3. Promote 
travel plans to 
encourage a 
switch to low 
emission 
vehicles 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP 

a) In 2011/12, 62 new workplace travel plans were 
secured. 24 workplace travel plans were initiated or 
reviewed in 2010/11.The first 4 voluntary workplace 
travel plans had also been completed. 

a) In 2012/13, 52 new workplace travel plans 
were secured.  
 

a) In 2013/14, 43 new workplace travel plans were 
secured.  
 

4. Reduce 
emissions from 
the council fleet 
 
  

Ongoing from 
2002  
  

a) Use of biodiesel continues to help emissions form 
the council’s diesel vehicles to be as low as 
possible. The number of vehicles in the council fleet 
continues to reduce as services are contracted out. 
The council has also signed up to TfL’s Freight 
Operators Recognition Scheme (Bronze level) 
which offers training and guidance in a number of 
areas relating to vehicle and fleet management. In 

a) The council remains a member of the Tfl FORS 
scheme.   
 

a) The council is currently reviewing its FORS 
membership.  
 
b) The Bi-Borough Parks Police have leased a new 
electric vehicle as one of their fleet which will reduce 
emissions of NOx and PM10. 
 

P
age 44



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        36 

Action Plan 
Measure 

Original 
Timescale 

Previously reported Progress  
 

Previously Reported Outcomes  
 

New Progress, Outcomes and Additional 
Comments for  2013/14 

2010/11, 27 new mini-buses that utilise Mercedes’ 
‘stop/start’ technology  to reduce idling emissions 
were added to the fleet. 

5. Seek a 
reduction in 
emissions from 
the bus fleet 
  

To be agreed 
with TfL and bus 
operators 

a) TfL continues to trial buses running on alternative 
fuels such as electric-diesel. Bus route H91 
(Hammersmith to Hounslow West) became a hybrid 
service, with plans for route 211 (Hammersmith to 
Waterloo) to follow in July 2012. 
 

a) Route 27 has now been converted to hybrid 
operation and Route 11 will be converted to 
operation by the new hybrid-driven Routemaster 
in September 2013.  
 

Routes 9,10, 22, 94  and 148 have been converted to 
the new Routemaster operation 

TfL is well on its way to having Europe's largest fleet of 
hybrid buses. These vehicles use a combination of an 
ordinary diesel engine and an electric motor and 
reduce emissions of local pollutants and CO2 by 30% 
compared to conventional buses. There are now to 
many to list individually in LBHF 

 A new  Routemaster Bus has been introduced in 
London.The bus uses the latest green diesel-electric 
hybrid technology and is the best performing bus of its 
kind in the world. In test conditions the New 
Routemaster produced around half the carbon dioxide 
and a quarter of the particulate matter and nitrogen 
oxides of conventional diesel buses and is more fuel 
efficient 
 
A battery pack powers the electric motor which drives 
the wheels on the bus. The battery is charged by a 
generator and through regenerative braking (where the 
system recycles the energy lost during the braking 
motion). Stop-start technology means the engine only 
runs when it needs to charge the battery.  
 
Within LBHF, the following new Routemasters 
operate:- route 11, which runs between Liverpool 
Street station and Fulham Broadway, route 9 
(Hammersmith to Aldwych),  route 148 (Camberwell 
Green to White City bus station) and route 10 
(Hammersmith bus station to King's Cross St. 
Pancras). 
 

6. Encourage 
the use of 
vehicles with 
smaller, more 
efficient 
engines 
 

From Summer 
2003 onwards  
  

a) Produced a public information leaflet (Drive Down 
Pollution) which included information on benefits of 
smaller vehicles. Information also appeared in HFM, 
the council web site and information poster. Also 
distributed at events such as the west London 
Green Festival etc.  
 

a) The information leaflet encourages people to 
consider smaller, more fuel efficient cars.  
 
 
 
 
 

a) As previously reported. See above (action 2) for 
update on discount parking permit scheme. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 45



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        37 

Action Plan 
Measure 

Original 
Timescale 

Previously reported Progress  
 

Previously Reported Outcomes  
 

New Progress, Outcomes and Additional 
Comments for  2013/14 

  b) The Environment Services Department has use 
of a Smart car for council business which is used for 
site visits etc. 

b) The Smart car is a visual reminder to people 
that such small, efficient cars are ideal for city 
driving conditions. 

b) The Smart car is still available for use by Council 
staff for council business.  
 
 

7. Seek to 
reduce 
emissions from 
larger vehicles 
(Low Emission 
Zone) 
 

The report on 
the outcome of 
the LEZ study is 
due in mid 2003. 
Any scheme 
would need to 
be co-ordinated 
with other 
boroughs etc 

a) Most vehicles are complying with the LEZ 
requirements and emissions from HGVs (over 3.5t), 
buses and coaches are expected to be reducing in 
London as a result. All council vehicles comply with 
the LEZ emission standards as required. 

a) The next phase of the LEZ came into force in 
January 2012 which requires larger vehicles to be 
Euro 4 compliant for PM10. Vans/mini-buses have 
come into the scheme for the first time and have 
to be Euro 3 compliant for PM10.  
 

a) The LEZ remains in place.  
 
b) Council Officers continue to be involved in 
discussions with TfL and the GLA regarding the 
proposed Ultra Low Emission Zone, however the zone 
is currently not proposed to cover the LBHF.  

8. Seek to 
reduce 
emissions from 
badly 
maintained 
vehicles 

Roadside testing 
is likely to start 
in 2003; to be 
co-ordinated 
with other 
participating 
boroughs 

a) During 2003/04, 468 vehicles were tested, out of 
which 12 failed the emissions test. No test since 
then. 
 

a) No further vehicle emission testing carried out. 
 

a) No further vehicle emission testing carried out. 
 
 

9. Encourage 
more 
environmentally 
friendly driving 
behaviour 

Implementation 
to be co-
ordinated with 
other 
participating 
boroughs. Aim 
for summer 2003 
 

 a) Opening of the extension to Hammersmith bus 
station in March 2008 has removed buses from an 
on-street bus stand where buses had on occasion 
been seen with engines running unnecessarily 
whilst parked. 
 

a) No recent complaints received about emissions 
from buses stationary at bus stands. TfL are now 
running a London-wide awareness and 
enforcement campaign on idling vehicles. 
 
 

a) No further progress on this action. 

10. Seek a 
reduction in 
emissions of 
small particles 
from 
construction 
sites 
 
 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP 
 
 

a) Complaints of dust nuisance investigated as and 
when reported.  
 
 
 
 
b) Large scale developments are required to submit 
a construction code of practice, which will include 
measures on minimising dust emissions. SPD on 
Sustainable Construction adopted in November 
2007 to provide advice on how to reduce dust and 
pollution impacts during construction /demolition 
works on large sites. 

a) Complaints continue to be investigated as 
required. 22 complaints received in 2011/12 about 
construction / demolition dust. Informal 
warning/advice usually effective in securing 
improvements.  
 
b) Developers are advised to follow guidance in 
the council’s SPD on Sustainable Construction 
and submit details on how dust/PM10 emissions 
will be minimised. The GLA/London Councils Best 
Practice Guidance on Control of Dust and 
Emissions from Construction and Demolition is 
also recommended.  

a) Complaints continue to be investigated as required. 
90 complaints received in 2013/14 about construction / 
demolition dust. Informal warning/advice usually 
effective in securing improvements.  
 
 
b) We continue to require a construction management 
plan for major development sites, including measures 
to minimise dust emissions and advised to follow 
SPD/BPG guidance. 

11. Seek a 
reduction in 
emissions from 
domestic and 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP 

a) In 2011/12, an additional 35 home composters 
were ordered and distributed. We also ran 4 
composting workshops where we gave away 136 
compost bins in total. In 20011/12 the following 

a) In 2012/13, an additional 24 home composters 
were ordered and distributed. A Green Johanna 
trial was also undertake, with 80 subsided units 
being taken up and 4 workshops conducted. In 

a) 2013/14 data is not currently available. Updates will 
be reported in the 2014/15 report.  
 
b) In 2013/14 there were 39 complaints about smoke 

P
age 46



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        38 

Action Plan 
Measure 

Original 
Timescale 

Previously reported Progress  
 

Previously Reported Outcomes  
 

New Progress, Outcomes and Additional 
Comments for  2013/14 

commercial 
properties 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

green waste was sent for composting:  
 
- 53 tonnes of Christmas trees 
- 360 tonnes of leaf fall from public highways  
- 10 tonnes from the council’s parks. This is the 
tonnage delivered to Western Riverside Waste 
Authority. The Councils parks contractor is 
composting much of the green waste arising from 
parks within the parks themselves. 
 
b) Informal warning/advice usually effective in 
securing improvements. 44 complaints about smoke 
from bonfires in 2011/12. Advice was given and 
improvements secured. No notices were served.  
No  
 
c) A number of projects to improve energy efficiency 
have been implemented in 2011/12 for the council’s 
corporate sites.  We have so far delivered approx 
4,000 tonnes of CO2 savings since the carbon 
management plan was implemented (a 41% 
reduction against the target).  Carbon reduction 
initiatives have been implemented in the council’s IT 
strategy. 
 
d) The council has compiled information on its 
emissions for 2011/12 and they will be published on 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/co2 in August.   In general a 17% 
reduction in electricity use was found for 2011/12 
when comparing with previous year (probably due 
to closure/sale of council buildings,  however total 
emissions from schools (from gas and electricity) 
increased compared to 2010/11 and this was 
probably due to new schools (Hammersmith 
Academy and a number of new free schools in the 
borough). Total GHG emissions reported for 
2011/12 are calculated as 25,299 tCO2e.  One main 
difference since 2010/11 is that reporting for 
2011/12 included fugitive air-conditioning emissions 
which calculated as 866 tCO2e. By removing this it 
can be seen that total GHG emissions have 
reduced by c. 500 tCO2e. 

20012/13 the following green waste was sent for 
composting:  
 
- 60 tonnes of Christmas trees 
- 103 tonnes of leaf fall from public highways  
- 178 tonnes from the council’s parks. This is the 
tonnage delivered to Western Riverside Waste 
Authority. The Councils parks contractor is 
composting much of the green waste arising from 
parks within the parks themselves. 
 
b) In 2012/13 there were 44 complaints about 
smoke from commercial/domestic properties, 
including from bonfires. 21 sites were 
warned/advised in writing. No abatement notices 
were served.  
 
c) In 2012/13 the council implemented projects 
which provided 695 tonnes of carbon savings (an 
extra 7.11% against the target).  A number of 
projects were also included during 2012-13 which 
will bring extra reduction of approx 700 tonnes of 
CO2 – however a number of these have now 
been moved back to the 2013-14 programme.  
 
d) The latest Greenhouse Gases (GHG) report is 
due at the end of July 2013. This has not been 
compiled yet as DECC is considering revising the 
reporting regime, so we are waiting for 
clarification on this before compiling our next 
report.  
 

from commercial/domestic properties, including from 
bonfires.  No abatement notices were served.  
 
c) Figures for 2013-14 are not yet available to be 
reported. This years figures will be reported in next 
years update report.  
 
d) The latest Greenhouse Gases (GHG) report 
calculated that there was a total of 32% reduction in 
gross carbon emissions (reporting from 2009/10 
baseline from scope 1,2 and 3 related emissions). 
There was however a total 10% increase in school 
related emissions which reflected the expansion of 
school buildings and new schools in the borough. 
 
(e) Since 2009, LBHF has made strong progress in 
reducing its emissions since participating in the 
Carbon Trust’s Local Authority Management 
Programme.  There was a 23% reduction in carbon 
emissions between 2010/11 and 2011/12, although 
there was an increase by 14.5% between 2011/12 and 
2012/13. This increase was attributed to a particularly 
harsh winter. 
 
A new project for 2014-15 is the Greening Business 
Programme which aims to reduce the environmental 
impact from SME’s in the borough. Recruitment of 
businesses is starting now and the Council is looking 
for 11 smes in LBHF to work with over the next few 
months. 
 

12. Seek to 
control and 
minimise 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 

a) Continued regulation and reduction of emissions 
to atmosphere through the LAPPC regime and 
clean air regulations.  

a) Regulation duties continued in line with the 
LAPPC requirements. 2 complaints were received 
in 2012/13 regarding emissions from industrial 

a) Regulation duties continued in line with the LAPPC 
requirements. No complaints were received in 2013/14 
regarding emissions from industrial sites regulated by 

P
age 47



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        39 

Action Plan 
Measure 

Original 
Timescale 

Previously reported Progress  
 

Previously Reported Outcomes  
 

New Progress, Outcomes and Additional 
Comments for  2013/14 

emissions from 
industrial 
premises 

AQAP  
5 complaints were received in 2010/11 regarding 
emissions from industrial sites regulated by the 
council. No evidence found of non-compliance – no 
action required. 

sites regulated by the council. No notices were 
served. 
 

the council. No notices were served. 
 
 

REDUCING THE NEED TO TRAVEL 
13. Sustain and 
improve town & 
local centres, 
facilities and 
employment 
areas 

UDP review to 
be complete in 
2003 

a) Work has started on the Local Development 
Framework which will replace the UDP. Over the 
past couple of years, the Council has been 
reviewing and refining its proposed LDF Core 
Strategy. Reducing traffic congestion and the need 
to travel remain strategic objectives. 

a) The council’s Core Strategy includes strategic 
policies supporting the regeneration of key parts 
of the borough including the White City 
Opportunity Area, Earls Court and West 
Kensington, South Fulham Riverside and Old Oak 
Common. Regeneration of these sites in key parts 
of the borough will help improve local centre, 
reducing the need for residents to travel to get the 
key services they require 

(a) The Core Strategy continues to be implemented 
and progress continues on the regeneration of the 
White City Opportunity Area, Earls Court and West 
Kensington, South Fulham Riverside and Old Oak 
Common. Regeneration of these sites in key parts of 
the borough will help improve local centre, reducing 
the need for residents to travel to get the key services 
they require.   
(b) We have also commissioned and completed first 
phase of studies into Hammersmith “Flyunder”, which 
would significantly reduce emissions in the Town 
Centre. 

14. Seek to 
reduce the air 
quality impact of 
new 
development 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP 
 
 
 
 
 

 a) The council’s Core Strategy contains a policy on 
air quality which requires air quality assessments for 
major developments and implementation of 
mitigation measures, if there is a need to reduce 
impacts.  
 
 
 
b) H&F guidance is in use by Development Control 
officers. 

 a) More detailed policies relating to air quality 
have been drafted for inclusion in the council’s 
DM DPD which has been consulted on and will be 
adopted in July 2013. 
 
 
 
 
b) Supplementary Planning Guidance on air 
quality issues has been drafted and consulted on 
and will formally be adopted in July 2013. 

a) The wording of our air quality policy within our 
Development Management Plan is currently being 
amended, in order to include all developments that 
have the potential to impact on local air quality 
(previously restricted to major developments).  The 
current policy continues to be implemented on all 
relevant planning applications.  
 
b) We refer all applicants to our Supplementary 
Planning Document that was adopted in July 2013 to 
ensure the correct information is submitted with 
regards to air quality.    

ENCOURAGING A SWITCH TO LESS POLLUTING FORMS OF TRANSPORT 

15. Promotion 
of bus services 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP  

a) Bus service improvements achieved on a number 
of routes including: Route 316 - extended from 
North Kensington to White City, via the Edward 
Woods estate, from November 2008; New route 228 
- introduced January 2009. (Both in association with 
Westfield); A new Sunday service was introduced 
on route 607 from April 2010; A full time bus stop for 
southbound traffic was constructed in North End 
Road (junction  with Racton Road) - previously a 
bus stop at this location operated only in the 
evenings and on Sundays. Installed 50 metres of 
northbound bus lane/bus only road at the north end 
of Fulham Palace Road as part of the Fulham 

a) From December 2011, articulated buses were 
replaced by double decker vehicles with 
increased frequency on route 207 (Uxbridge 
Road) and frequencies were increased on Friday 
and Saturday nights on the N207. From January 
2012 increased frequency was introduced in the 
peak periods on bus route 220.  

No significant changes to bus services took place in 
2013/14 other than minor changes to improve 
reliability. 
 
Progress has been made by the Council’s Highways 
department in bringing the total of fully accessible bus 
stops up to 237 out of the 270 in the Borough. 
 
Putney to Blackfriars River Service  
 On 9 September 2013, TfL launched a new timetable 
to provide extra journeys to customers on the Putney 
to Blackfriars river bus service serving the south of the 
Borough. Patronage on the recently retendered service 

P
age 48



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        40 

Action Plan 
Measure 

Original 
Timescale 

Previously reported Progress  
 

Previously Reported Outcomes  
 

New Progress, Outcomes and Additional 
Comments for  2013/14 

Palace Slip Road/ Hammersmith gyratory scheme 
which has produced substantial benefits for buses 
and other traffic. 

has continued to exceed forecasts, boosted by quicker 
journey times, an increased number of departures and 
more modern vessels. 

16. Promotion 
of other forms 
of public 
transport 
 
  

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP 
 

a) Shepherds Bush rail station opened in 
September 2008 and a new tube station at Wood 
Lane opened in October 2008. Imperial Wharf 
station was opened in September 2009.   
 
The council is promoting a Crossrail interchange 
station with the West London Line in the Old Oak 
Common/Mitre Bridge area, linked to a possible 
High Speed Rail hub station. 

a) The council continues to work with HS2, the 
GLA/TfL and neighbouring boroughs on plans for 
HS2 and the draft Environmental Statement. The 
OAPF for the area has been issued for 
consultation.  

(a) The Council is submitting a petition on the HS2 bill 
to include connections from Old Oak Common station  
to the West London Line and the West Coast mainline, 
better bus  and cycle connections and protection for 
Wormwood Scrubs. 

17. Promotion 
of cycling 
 
  

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP  

(a)  Initial work has been undertaken on extending 
the Mayor’s Cycle Hire scheme to the borough, with 
the funding agreement signed and planning 
permissions granted for a number of  docking 
stations. The scheme is set to go live in December 
2013.  

 

(a)  Cycle hire scheme went live in December 
2013 and by February 2014 there were 26,000 
hires per month. 

New, increased cycle parking standards have also 
been adopted. 

Since the London Cycle Hire Scheme was introduced 
in LBHF in December 2013, the number of journeys 
has increased dramatically. In the first month of the 
scheme, 13,000 journeys were made in the borough. 
But in January, the number of cycle hire journeys 
doubled to more than 26,000 in the scheme’s second 
month – an average of about 866 journeys a day. By 
March 2014, the hire and docking usage was up to 
51,064 per month and rising. 

At least 171 cycle stands were introduced on street as 
part of the Council’s programmes. 

A full programme of cycle training and maintenance 
classes continued along with the award – winning 
“Exchanging Places” scheme to reduce conflict 
between cyclists and large goods vehicles. 

18. Promotion 
of Walking 
 
 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP.  
 
 

a) The council promoted the ‘Walking Works’ 
activities, with again more than 1,000 individuals 
taking part. We also promoted walking at the Grand 
Union Canal Fest. 
 
Council Road Safety Officers visit infant, junior and 
secondary schools throughout the borough to raise 
awareness of road safety and provide training. 
17,010 pupils have received road safety education 
from the team in the last 3 years.  
 
We also completed the first stage of pedestrian 
signing in the Borough by erection of TfL's Legible 
London type signage in Shepherd's Bush town 
centre. 

 

a) The Borough continues to work extensively on 
de-cluttering the street environment in 
Hammersmith and Fulham – e.g. removal of 
unnecessary signposts, bollards and guardrails. 
“Legible London” signage has been installed in 
Hammersmith Town Centre. One pelican crossing 
converted to puffin (giving more time to cross to 
those who need it.  

The council worked to save the pedestrian cut-
through across the railway at Kensington Olympia 
station – TfL had planned to install ticketed 

Significant pedestrian crossing improvements in 
2013/14 included the provision of PCaTS (Pedestrian 
Countdown at Traffic lights) in Uxbridge Road, 
Goldhawk Road and Fulham Palace Road. 
 
In addition our Neighbourhood programme has 
continued to see sizeable decluttering and removal of 
barriers to pedestrians. In 2013/14 we removed 78 
(non-illuminated) bollards, 28 illuminated bollards, 73 
sign posts, and 24 metres of guard rail. 

 

P
age 49



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        41 

Action Plan 
Measure 

Original 
Timescale 

Previously reported Progress  
 

Previously Reported Outcomes  
 

New Progress, Outcomes and Additional 
Comments for  2013/14 

barriers but they will now provide a bypass for 
local people to walk across the bridge. 

 

19. Encourage 
a reduction in 
car use for the 
journey to 
school 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP 

a) Not including independent nurseries (which do 
not have to do travel plans) 73 of 76 schools (96%) 
have school travel plans (STPs), with 49 (66%) of 
these currently ‘valid’ (i.e. active and annually 
reviewed).  
 
One new school (West London Free School) is 
engaged in the process and aiming for STP 
approval in 2012; and two schools have never 
engaged. 12 schools are currently in the process of 
reviewing their STPs, and 12 schools appear to 
have abandoned their STPs. 
  
Over 20,000 pupils surveyed at 74 schools shows 
the following modal shift over the last 7 years:  

• Car use down from 21% to 16% 

• Cycling/scootering up from 5% to 10% 

• Walking level constant at 39% 

• Public transport constant at 32% 
 
STAR (School Travel Accredited and Recognised) – 
this award scheme was improved and put online 
and has resulted in a tripling of STAR accredited 
schools in H&F since last year: 
 
2007: 5 accredited schools 
2008: 4 accredited schools 
2009: 1 accredited school 
2010: 4 accredited schools 
2011: 15 accredited schools 
2012: 44 accredited schools 

a) Not including independent nurseries (which do 
not have to do travel plans) all 76 schools in the 
borough have now completed their school travel 
plans, with 63 (83%) of these currently ‘valid’ (i.e. 
active and reviewed within past 12 months). Of 
the 13 schools with out of date STPs, 9 schools 
are currently in the process of reviewing and 4 
schools appear to have abandoned. 
 
Travel modes to school: Active travel 
(cycle/buggy/scooter/walk) is now up to 52%, and 
car use has fallen to below 15% 
 
STAR (School Travel Accredited and Recognised) 
award scheme: 
 
2013: deadline is in June, currently 36 have 
approval for accreditation, this should rise to a 
similar number as last year. 
 

a) Not including independent nurseries (which do not 
have to do travel plans) all 75 schools in the borough 
have now completed their school travel plans, with 51 ) 
of these currently ‘valid’ (i.e. active and reviewed within 
past 12 months). Of the 24 schools with out of date 
STPs, 19 schools are currently in the process of 
reviewing and 5 schools appear to have abandoned 
their plans. 
 
Travel modes to school: Active travel 
(cycle/buggy/scooter/walk) is now up to 52%, and car 
use has fallen to below 15% 
 
STAR (School Travel Accredited and Recognised) 
award scheme: 
 
2014: deadline is in June, currently 26 have approval 
for accreditation, this should rise to a similar number 
as last year. 
 

20. Encourage 
a reduction in 
car use for the 
journey to work 
and business 
trips 
 
 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP 
 

a) As above: Funding for the Travel Plan Co-
ordinator post has been extended. 

a) By 2009/10, 78 workplace travel plans were 
listed on iTrace for the borough. 24 workplace 
travel plans were initiated or reviewed in 
2010/11.The first 4 voluntary workplace travel 
plans had also been completed.  
 
A Travel Plan business network is developing in 
Hammersmith Town Centre. 

a) See measure 3. 
 

21. Control Ongoing –  a) Double yellow lines implemented across all a) Parking controls reviewed in 2012/13 in Zones a) Parking bays maximised, signage de-cluttered and 

P
age 50



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        42 

Action Plan 
Measure 

Original 
Timescale 

Previously reported Progress  
 

Previously Reported Outcomes  
 

New Progress, Outcomes and Additional 
Comments for  2013/14 

provision of on 
and off street 
parking to deter 
car commuting 
into and within 
the borough 
 
 

parking best 
value review to 
be complete by 
mid 2003 
 

informal crossing points with dropped kerbs in the 
borough's largest CPZ (Zone V). Stakeholders of 
CPZs V, B and C were consulted on parking 
controls in 2011/12. The smart visitor permit was 
introduced in Zone V to provide discounted parking 
for residents and visitors and Richmond Way (in 
Zone B) opted for extended parking controls. 
Parking consultations carried out in CPZs V, B and 
C in order to gauge whether stakeholders want 
extended parking controls as a mechanism of 
controlling parking stress and the availability of 
parking spaces. 
 
b) Parking standards applied to new developments 
to ensure adequate provision without increasing 
‘parking stress’. 

Q, W and F. 
 

double yellow lines installed around informal crossings 
in 2012/13 in Zones Q, W and F. 
 
In 2013/14, Parking bays maximised, signage de-
cluttered and double yellow lines installed around 
informal crossings in Zones S, U and Z. 
 
Parking consultations were also carried our in Zones C 
and J, and part of Zone Q (Novello St), which became 
a one-street sub-zone to discourage intra-zonal 
commuter parking. 
 
The Zone J parking consultation offered additional 
match day parking controls. The results are being 
analysed. If the majority of respondents opt for match 
day parking controls this would mean that there would 
likely be a significant reduction in  football fans parking 
in residential roads on match days. This would reduce 
parking stress and congestion in the Uxbridge Road 
area, which is a key route. 
 
b) GLA parking standards adopted. 

22. Encourage 
freight to be 
transported in a 
sustainable 
manner 

2004 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

a) The Council is now a member of FORS (Freight 
Operators Recognition Scheme) and we encourage 
the development of Servicing and Delivery Plans 
and the use of rail and water for freight via the 
planning process.  Waiting and loading reviews are 
ongoing boroughwide (Zones H,Q,T and North End 
Road in particular). 
 
b) The home delivery scheme is included in the 
WLFQP three year programme; we will follow this 
up together with the partnership. 
 
c) 3 bicycle rickshaws have been purchased for 
potential use in such a scheme. Rickshaws have 
already been used by the council to transport mail/ 
goods and for local school deliveries. The freight 
rickshaw tricycle is currently used by Hammersmith 
BID. 

a) Waiting and loading reviews carried out in 
Zones Q,W  and F reviewed in 2012/13. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
b) Westtrans is working on a freight plan which 
will have several elements in it to reduce the 
environmental impacts of deliveries. 
  
c) The council has set up a lorry driver-cyclist 
awareness training course to improve the quality 
of HGV driving in the borough and to reduce the 
danger to cyclists – this has won a London 
Cycling Campaign award. 

a)  We are working towards Gold Standard FORS 
(Freight Operator) recognition  
 

MAKING MORE EFFICIENT USE OF ROAD TRANSPORT 
23. Encourage 
car sharing 
 

From Summer 
2003 onwards  
 

a) Share the car software installed Spring 2004. Car 
share scheme is up and running. 2 Car Clubs 
operate in Hammersmith & Fulham: City Car Club, 

a) There are now a total of 51 on-street car club 
parking bays in the borough.  
 

a) There are 26 Car Club Bays in the borough.   
(reduction due to consolidation in numbers of car 
clubs) 

P
age 51



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        43 

Action Plan 
Measure 

Original 
Timescale 

Previously reported Progress  
 

Previously Reported Outcomes  
 

New Progress, Outcomes and Additional 
Comments for  2013/14 

  and Zipcar (now incorporating Streetcar).  
In April 2014 the Council introduced an electronic 
parking permit for Car Clubs is order to make the 
renewal of permits easier. 

24. Discourage 
short journeys 
 
  

From Summer 
2003 onwards 
 

a) The “small zone” system mentioned under action 
21 discourages intra-borough car journeys.  
Discouragement of short journeys is at the heart of 
the travel planning process. The school travel 
planning process has generated a positive modal 
shift with fewer short journeys being reported 

a) As previously reported. See also updates for 
measures 19, 20 and 21. 
 

a) As previously reported. See also updates for 
measures 19, 20 and 21. 
 
 

OTHER MEASURES TO REDUCE ROAD TRAFFIC AND EMISSIONS 
25. Reduce the 
amount of road 
traffic in 
residential 
areas and town 
centres 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 a) There are now 16 20mph zones in the borough. 
The innovative “drive over chicane” in the North End 
Road East zone was Highly Commended at the 
London Transport Awards 2009. An innovative 
20mph zone without physical measures was piloted 
in 2010/11 in the Wendell Park area. The Wendell 
Park scheme has now been fully implemented, 
increasing the number of 20mph zones in the 
borough to 17. 
 
b) The relevant London Plan policies are applied as 
and when appropriate. 

a) Reviews of neighbourhood traffic calming 
schemes were carried out in the Old Oak, Charing 
Cross Hospital and Fulham Palace Road (East 
and West) Areas.    
 
b) The council’s Development Management DPD 
(due for adoption in July 2013) includes a policy 
on car parking standards aimed at reducing 
additional car travel and encouraging more 
sustainable travel methods. 

 
Schemes have been implemented in the St Mary’s 
Cemetery, Hammersmith Grove, Sulgrave Road, 
White City and Cathnor Park Neighbourhoods in 2013-
14.  
 
 
 
 

26. Promote the 
use of trees to 
help improve 
local air quality 
 
 

Work on the 
Biodiversity 
Action Plan will 
begin in early 
2003 
 

a) In 2010/11, a total of 371 trees were planted. 
Planting in new developments continues as 
previously reported. For some development sites, 
where planting etc is planned as part of the soft 
landscaping developers may be advised to 
investigate the use of vegetation/trees as a barrier 
helping to filter out pollution. 

a) In 2012-13, the council planted 147 new street 
trees and 151 replacement street trees – a total of 
298 trees planted on highway sites. We planted 
44 new trees and 2 replacement trees on housing 
estates and 5 new trees and 3 replacement trees 
in parks. This is a total of 54 trees on non-
highway sites.  

a) Data is not currently available for 2013/14. This will 
be reported in the 2014/15 report.  

27. Reduce the 
amount of traffic 
on the A4 and 
A40 

From Summer 
2003 

a) Partner in a bid for ‘Greening the A4’ project 
funding with Hounslow, Kensington & Chelsea and 
others. Bid includes travel demand management, 
alternative fuels, and road safety measures. 
However, no funding available to implement. 

a) A successful bid has been made for funds from 
the Mayor’s Air Quality Fund to pay for a project 
that will help improve green infrastructure in 
Hammersmith town centre. Additional funds are 
being sought from Defra to supplement this 
funding 

a) Funding has been awarded by the MAQF and Defra 
to implement a green infrastructure project in 
Hammersmith town centre. Work is currently underway 
to select the most beneficial location for the greening.   

MEASURES TO RAISE AWARENESS OF THE LINKS BETWEEN AIR QUALITY AND HEALTH 
28. Provide 
information to 
allow people to 
make informed 
choices about 
travel behaviour 

From Summer 
2003 onwards 
 

a) As previously reported. AirTEXT information 
distributed and presentations given to school nurses 
group and local Breathe Easy group.  
 

a) As previously reported. 135 Hammersmith & 
Fulham residents have now signed up for 
AirTEXT pollution alerts. 
 

a)  There are now148 subscribers for AirTEXT 
pollution alerts relating to LBHF.  The majority of these 
subscribers receive alerts by text message.  
b) Air Quality officers attended 7 sessions with local 
schools at the Lillia Hussett Urban Studies Centre to 
provide information to school children about air 
pollution and how their travel choices can reduce 

P
age 52



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014        44 

Action Plan 
Measure 

Original 
Timescale 

Previously reported Progress  
 

Previously Reported Outcomes  
 

New Progress, Outcomes and Additional 
Comments for  2013/14 

emissions.  

29. Provide 
information so 
people can 
make informed 
choices about 
reducing 
pollution from 
domestic 
activities 

From Summer 
2003 onwards 
 

a) A leaflet on cutting pollution from car use was 
produced, but production of domestic emissions 
information leaflet was delayed and not carried out. 

a) No new publicity material produced.  
 

a) No new publicity material produced.  
 
 

30. Continue to 
monitor air 
quality and 
make info. 
available 

Ongoing from 
2002 for the 
duration of the 
AQAP 

a) During 2010/11, the annual NO2 objective was 
exceeded at 5 sites out of 10, mainly at the roadside 
sites. No PM10 monitoring took place during 
2010/11. Real-time monitoring of NO2 and PM10 
re-started in October 2011 at the council’s new 
monitoring site at Shepherds Bush Green. Detailed 
information on monitoring results is included in the 
council’s annual Air Quality report. 

a) For 2012, the real time monitor at Shepherds 
Bush Green measured an annual mean NO2 
concentration of 91µg/m

3
 and an annual mean 

PM10 concentration of 39µg/m
3
. There were 57 

exceedences of the NO2 hourly objective and 69 
exceedences of the daily objective for PM10.  
Of these 4 objectives, 3 were exceeded and 1 
(the PM10 annual mean) was met in 2012. 

a) For 2013, the real time monitor at Shepherds Bush 
Green measured an annual mean NO2 concentration 
of 76.2 µg/m

3 
and there were 11 exceedences of

 
the 

NO2 hourly objective. However the data for 2013 
needs to be treated with caution as the monitoring 
station was only functioning for 6 months due to it 
being involved in a vehicle collision.  
 
For PM10 the annual mean remained below the 
national objective at 36.4 and 33 daily means 
exceeded the 50µg/m

3
.
  
 Should monitoring have 

continued for the entire year, it is likely that the daily 
mean objective would have been exceeded for PM10.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 53



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 45 

10 Conclusions and Proposed Actions 

 

10.1 Conclusions from New Monitoring Data 

The Progress report has not identified any significant changes to the air quality in the 
borough.  The monitoring data for 2013 shows that exceedences of the NO2 annual 
mean objective continued at roadside sites, with some (those with annual means 
exceeding 60µg/m3) also at risk of exceeding the hourly mean objective. Only 3 out 
of 7 background sites showed compliance with the annual mean objective. In terms 
of PM10, exceedences of the daily objective were measured during the year, however 
this data cannot be relied upon to draw robust conclusions due to the low rate of data 
capture. 
 
In summary the results for nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter continue to exceed 
one or more of the Government’s air quality objectives within the borough, therefore it 
is necessary to continue to maintain the AQMA. As no significant changes have been 
identified, no changes to the AQMA are required as a result of new monitoring data.  
 

10.2 Conclusions relating to New Local Developments 

New local developments have the potential to impact on air quality the council will 
continue to work to minimise these impacts however integrated policies are required 
to avoid the continuing conflict between some carbon reduction measures such as 
the push for decentralised energy in urban areas which will have a detrimental effect 
and have the potential to erode improvements in other sectors.  
 

10.3 Proposed Actions  

The Progress Report has not identified the need to increase monitoring of pollutants 
at any location and there is no need at this stage to carry out a Detailed Assessment 
at any location for a particular source or to make changes to the AQMA.  
 
The next stage in terms of air quality review and assessment work is to prepare and 
submit the next Updating and Screening Assessment, including AQAP review in April 
2015.  
 

Page 54



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 46 

11 References 

 

Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance (LAQM.TG(09)), DEFRA, 2009.  
 
Air Quality Strategy, DEFRA, 2007. 
 
Air Quality (England) Regulations 2000 (SI 928). 
 
Air Quality (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2002 (SI 3043). 
 
Air Quality Progress Report, LBHF, 2005, 2007, 2008, 2010, 2011, 2013. 
 
Updating and Screening Assessment, LBHF, 2012. 
 
Updating and Screening Assessment, LBHF, 2009. 
 
Updating and Screening Assessment, LBHF, 2006. 
 
Updating and Screening Assessment, LBHF, 2004. 
 
Detailed Assessment, LBHF, 2006. 
 
Air Quality Action Plan, 2003-05, LBHF, 2003. 
 
London Air Quality Network, http://www.londonair.org.uk 
 
Air Quality Management Area Order, LBHF, 2000. 
 
Stage 1 Air Quality Review and Assessment, LBHF, 1998. 
 
Stage 2 Air Quality Review and Assessment, LBHF, 1999.  
 
Stage 3 Air Quality Review and Assessment, LBHF, 2000. 
 
Stage 4 Air Quality Review and Assessment, LBHF, 2003. 
 
Carbon Management Plan  2009-2016, April 2010. 
 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy, Oct 2011. 
 
Development Management Local Plan, July 2013. 
 
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document, July 2013. 
 
LBHF Local Implementation Plan 2 (2011-2031).

Page 55



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 47 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Quality Assurance / Quality Control (QA/QC) Data 

Appendix B: Automatic Site Monitoring results 2013  

Appendix C:  Monthly NO2 Diffusion Tube Results 2013 

Appendix D: Calculations for annualised continuous and passive monitoring results 

 

 

Page 56



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 48 

Appendix A: QA:QC Data 
 

Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factors 
The NO2 diffusion tubes used for the passive monitoring work are supplied and 
analysed by Gradko International Ltd.  The preparation method used is 50% TEA v/v 
in Acetone. The bias adjustment factor for the 2013 data is 1.14.  Further details are 
provided below. 

 

Factor from Local Co-location Studies (if available) 
The council does not have any NO2 diffusion tubes co-located with its real-time 
monitoring station. However a local bias adjustment factor calculated using data from 
the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea AURN affiliated site at North 
Kensington was chosen to be used rather than the National Bias Adjustment Factor.  
 

Discussion of Choice of Factor to Use 
The bias adjustment factor is calculated by Bureau Veritas using data collected at the 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea AURN affiliated site (this local bias 
adjustment factor was chosen over the National Bias Adjustment Factor as it is 
considered to be more representative of local conditions). The bias adjustment factor 
for 2013 has been calculated as 1.14.   

 

PM Monitoring Adjustment 
All PM10 data presented in this report have been corrected to gravimetric equivalent 
using the Volatile Correction Model. 
 

Short-term to Long-term Data adjustment 
No data adjustment of this type is included in this report.  
 

QA/QC of Automatic Monitoring 
The council’s automatic monitoring station is part of the London Air Quality Network 
(LAQN), which is run by the Environmental Research Group at King’s College 
London. All real-time data from the monitoring station is therefore independently 
collected and validated on a daily basis. A combination of automatic and manual 
checks is used to assess data, identify and diagnose potential equipment faults and 
adjust data to take account of calibration tests. Automatic overnight calibrations are 
supplemented with regular manual calibrations of analysers. The procedures used 
conform to the requirements of the UK Automatic Urban and Rural Network 
Management and Co-ordination Units. 
 
All data is also formally ratified. During this process the validation decisions can be 
ratified with the benefit of hindsight and using greater information, such as service 
records, calibration records and the results of station audits. Station audits are 
carried out every 6 months by the National Physical Laboratory, which is UKCAS 
(United Kingdom Accreditation Service) accredited.  
 

 

Page 57



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 49 

QA/QC of Diffusion Tube Monitoring 
 

Diffusion tube analysis is carried out in Gradko’s UKAS accredited laboratory. 
Laboratory preparation and analysis of the tubes is strictly controlled and Gradko 
participate in 2 major independent schemes to assess their performance.  
 
1) Workplace Analysis Scheme for Proficiency (WASP) 
 

Gradko participates in the WASP NO2 diffusion tube scheme on a monthly basis. 
This is a recognised performance-testing programme for labs undertaking NO2 
diffusion tube analysis as part of the UK NO2 monitoring network. The scheme is 
designed to help laboratories meet the European Standard EN482.   From 2011 
onwards, a z-score system has been implemented to assess the performance of 
laboratories. The key changes are the inclusion of all monthly performance scores 
(previously the lowest round out of 5 was dropped), the score is no longer based on a 
rolling performance indicator and all results from all UK participants are now reported.  
A z-score is interpreted as deviation of less than 2 and is a satisfactory result; 
deviation equal to or more than 2 but less than 3 is a questionable laboratory result; 
and a deviation of more than 3 is deemed unsatisfactory.  The results are presented 
as the percentage of results where the z-score was  between -2 and +2, which is 
deemed to be satisfactory. For 2013, the results for Gradko International were as 
follows: 
 
Table - Gradko International Ltd Laboratory Summary Performance for WASP 
Rounds 120-123, 2013 
 

 
 
2) Network Field Inter-comparison Exercise 
 
This exercise tests the performance of the diffusion tubes and lab analysis 
procedures and involves the regular exposure of a triplet of tubes at an Automatic 
Urban Network (AUN) site where real-time NO2 levels are also measured using a 
chemiluminescent analyser. 
 
Gradko operates well within the required level of performance in terms of accuracy 
and precision, as shown by the results below.  
 
Table -  Summary of NO2 Network Field Inter-Comparison Results, 2013 

 

Page 58



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 50 

Appendix B: Automatic Site Monitoring results 2013 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

N
O

2
co

n
ce

n
tr

a
ti

o
n

s 
µ

g
/m

3

Hourly Nitrogen Dioxide concentrations from automatic site (HF4) for the monitoring period

Annual Mean National Objective Level

Hourly National Objective Level

 

P
age 59



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 51 

Appendix C: NO2 Diffusion Tube Results 2013 

Nitrogen Dioxide diffusion tube results 2013 µg/m3 (unadjusted) 

Site Codes   Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Annual mean 

HF32 Hammersmtih Broadway 78.5 70.5 103.1 67.0 65.9 79.9 86.7 78.9 83.8 75.4 76.7 76.2 78.6 

HF44 Eel Brook Common 42.1 39.0 47.7 28.8 26.4 29.3 26.2 26.7 33.9 27.3 42.1 29.5 33.2 

HF45 Bryony Rd 45.6 47.7 45.1 29.2 30.7 25.2 27.5 34.0 40.8 33.7 50.5 38.3 37.4 

HF47 Wulfstan St 49.3 50.1 53.5 28.5 36.9 33.6 38.2 40.4 45.0 43.6 52.6 51.1 43.6 

HF50 Fulham Broadway 75.1 60.7 59.7 58.7 62.2 53.9 66.2 67.9 75.6 70.2 71.4 71.5 66.1 

HF53 Addison Gardens 44.2 40.7 43.3 26.5 30.3 27.6 29.3 * 37.1 34.5 49.7 38.3 36.5 

HF54 Westway A40 88.2 100.2 113.1 64.7 84.4 90.2 86.3 81.2 95.4 71.5 100.6 60.1 86.3 

HF61 Uxbridge Rd 52.3 47.6 50.9 30.7 40.0 34.6 40.1 38.7 49.6 40.1 51.7 51.1 43.9 

HF63 Talgarth Rd 57.2 60.7 68.7 48.9 54.6 54.3 63.9 52.0 71.2 50.2 60.9 43.4 57.2 

HF66 Radipole Rd 44.4 36.9 43.6 26.5 27.1 26.8 26.6 26.1 35.4 29.5 43.5 34.5 33.4 

HF62 Cardross Street * * * * * * 23.5 27.0 36.2 29.3 45.0 33.2 32.4 

HF65 Fulham Palace Road * * * * * * 52.5 56.3 61.0 57.8 65.9 62.6 59.3 

HF48 Lillie Road * * * * * * 43.2 42.6 53.0 44.3 56.6 42.8 47.1 

HF64 North End Road * * * * * * 51.3 54.4 63.4 66.3 67.4 59.1 60.3 

HF60 Waldo Road * * * * * * 30.8 34.6 39.8 40.0 52.4 41.9 39.9 

Annualised annual mean data where data capture 
>75% 

HF62 Cardross Street 30.4 

HF65 Fulham Palace Road 55.8   
Data should be used with caution due to the low data 
capture 

HF48 Lillie Road 44.3 * Data not available 

HF64 North End Road 56.7 

HF60 Waldo Road 37.5 

P
age 60



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 52 

 

Appendix D: Calculations for annualised continuous and 
passive monitoring results 

 
Where data capture for the full calendar year is below 75%, the results have been 
annualised in accordance with Box 3.2 of the Local Air Quality Management 
Technical Guidance LAQM.TG(09).  
 
Continuous Data 
 
NO2 and PM10 
Continuous monitoring data for NO2 and PM10 was only collected for 6 months in 
2013 due to a vehicle collision with the monitoring station.  In order to calculate the 
annual mean concentrations for this site an adjustment has been applied based on 
the method set out in LAQM TG (09). 
 
The adjustment is based on the fact that patterns in pollutant concentrations usually 
affect a wide region.  The adjustment procedure applied is as follows: 
 

1. Four nearby, long-term, continuous monitoring sites (all part of the London Air 
Quality Network) were identified.  The sites selected were background sites in 
order to avoid any very local effects that may occur at roadside sites. 
 

2. The annual means (AM) for these sites were obtained for the calendar year of 
2013. 
 

3. The means (PM) for the monitoring period of our continuous site data were 
calculated for each background site (Jan 2013 - Jul 2013).  
 

4. The ratio, R, of the annual mean to the period mean (AM/PM) for each of the 
sites was calculated.  
 

5. The average of these ratios was then selected as the adjustment factor. 
NO2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Long term background site

Annual mean 

2013

Period mean 

2013 (1/1/2013-

14/7/2013)

Ratio between AM and 

PM

Horseferry Rd - Westminster 46 51 0.902

North Kensington - K&C 33 32 1.0313

Wandsworth Putney 40 39 1.026

Wandsworth Town Hall (7m) 48 51 0.9412

Average Ratio 0.9751

Page 61



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 53 

PM10 

 
 

6. The measured period mean concentration was then multiplied by the 
adjustment factor to give the estimate of the annual mean for 2013. 

 
NO2 

 
 

PM10 

 
 
 
Passive monitoring data 
 
NO2 

As 5 new NO2 diffusion tube locations were established in July 2013, we were only 
able to collect 6 months of data between July 2013 and December 2013.  In order to 
calculate the annual mean concentrations for these sites an adjustment has been 
applied based on the method set out in LAQM TG (09).  
 

The adjustment is based on the fact that patterns in pollutant concentrations usually 
affect a wide region.  
 
The adjustment procedure applied is as follows: 
 

7. Four nearby, long-term, continuous monitoring sites (all part of the London Air 
Quality Network) were identified.  The sites selected were background sites in 
order to avoid any very local effects that may occur at roadside sites. 
 

8. The annual means (AM) for these sites were obtained for the calendar year of 
2013. 
 

9. The means (PM) for the monitoring period of our diffusion tube data were 
calculated for each background site (July 2013 - December 2013).  
 

10. The ratio, R, of the annual mean to the period mean (AM/PM) for each of the 
sites was calculated.  
 

11. The average of these ratios was then selected as the adjustment factor. 

Long term background site 

(FDMS)

Annual mean 

2013

Period mean 

2013

Ratio between AM and 

PM

Horseferry Rd - Westminster 18.35 20.13 0.9116

North Kensington - K&C 21.89 22.62 0.968

Camden - Bloomsbury 18.37 19.03 0.9653

Bexley - Belvedere 18.91 21.49 0.8799

Average Ratio 0.9312

Continuous site

Annual mean 

unadjusted µg/m
3

Annual mean adjusted 

µg/m
3

HF4 78.1 76.2

Continuous site

Annual mean 

unadjusted (VCM 

corrected) µg/m
3

Annual mean adjusted 

µg/m
3

HF4 39.09 36.4

Page 62



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

LAQM Progress Report 2014 54 

long term background 

site

annual mean 

2013

period mean (26/06/13 - 

08/01/14)

ratio between AM 

and PM

Horseferry Rd - Westminster 46 39 0.848

North Kensington - K&C 33 33 1

Wandsworth - Putney 40 39 0.975

Wandsworth Town Hall (7m) 48 45 0.9375

Average Ratio 0.9401

 

12. The measured period mean concentration was then multiplied by the 
adjustment factor to give the estimate of the annual mean for 2013. 

 

 

Diffusion Tube Locations Site Codes

Annual mean 

unadjusted µg/m
3

Annual mean 

adjusted µg/m
3

Cardross Street HF62 32.4 30.4

Fulham Palace Road HF65 59.3 55.8

Lillie Road HF48 47.1 44.3

North End Road HF64 60.3 56.7

Waldo Road HF60 39.9 37.5

Page 63



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT & RESIDENT 
SERVICES POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE  

 
7 JULY 2014 

 

WORK PROGRAMMING 
 

Report of the Director of Law 
  

Open Report 
 

Classification - For PAC review & comment 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Jane West, Executive Director of Finance and 
Corporate Governance 
 

Report Author: Craig Bowdery, Scrutiny 
Manager  
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2278 
E-mail: craig.bowdery@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1   The Committee is asked to give consideration to its work programme for 

the municipal year 2014/2015.  
 
1.2   Details of the Key Decisions which are due to be taken by the Cabinet at 

its next meeting are provided in Appendix 1 in order to enable the 
Committee to identify those items where it may wish to request reports. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1   The Committee is asked to consider which issues it would like to 
investigate during the year and which witnesses it would like to hear from.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64

Agenda Item 8



 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 - Key Decision List 

Page 65



 

 

 

NOTICE OF CONSIDERATION OF A KEY DECISION  
In accordance with paragraph 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the Cabinet hereby gives notice of 
Key Decisions which it intends to consider at its next meeting and at future meetings. The list 
may change between the date of publication of this list and the date of future  Cabinet meetings. 

 

NOTICE OF THE INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN 

PRIVATE  
The Cabinet also hereby gives notice in accordance with paragraph 5 of the above 
Regulations  that it intends to meet in private after its public meeting to consider Key Decisions  
which may contain confidential or exempt information.  The private meeting of the Cabinet is 
open only to Members of the Cabinet, other Councillors and Council officers.  
 
Reports relating to key decisions which the Cabinet will take at its private meeting are indicated 
in the list of Key Decisions below, with the reasons for the decision being made in private.  Any 
person is able to make representations to the Cabinet if he/she believes the decision should 
instead be made in the public Cabinet meeting. If you want to make such representations, 
please e-mail  Katia Richardson on katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk.  You will then be sent a 
response in reply to your representations. Both your representations and the Executive’s 
response will be published on the Council’s website at least 5 working days before the Cabinet 
meeting. 

 
KEY DECISIONS PROPOSED TO BE MADE BY CABINET ON 14 JULY 2014 AND 
AT FUTURE CABINET MEETINGS UNTIL 6 OCTOBER 2014 
 

The following is a list of Key Decisions which the Authority proposes to take at the 
above Cabinet meeting and future meetings. The list may change over the next few 
weeks. A further notice will be published no less than 5 working days before the date of 
the Cabinet meeting showing the final list of Key Decisions to be considered at that 
meeting.  
 
KEY DECISIONS are those which are likely to result in one or more of the following: 
 

• Any expenditure or savings which are significant (ie. in excess of £100,000)  in 
relation to the Council’s budget for the service function to which the decision 
relates; 

 

• Anything affecting communities living or working in an area comprising two or 
more wards in the borough; 

 

• Anything significantly affecting communities within one ward (where practicable); 
 

• Anything affecting the budget and policy framework set by the Council. 
 
The Key Decisions List will be updated and published on the Council’s website on a 
monthly basis.  
 

NB: Key Decisions will generally be taken by the Executive at the Cabinet.  
 

If you have any queries on this Key Decisions List, please contact 
Katia Richardson on 020 8753 2368  or by e-mail to katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 66



 

 

 
 

 
Access to Cabinet reports and other relevant documents 

 
Reports and documents relevant to matters to be considered at the Cabinet’s public meeting 
will be available on the Council’s website (www.lbhf.org.uk) a minimum of 5 working days 
before the meeting. Further information, and other relevant documents as they become 
available, can be obtained from the contact officer shown in column 4 of the list below.  

 
Decisions 

 
All decisions taken by Cabinet may be implemented 5 working days after the relevant Cabinet 
meeting, unless called in by Councillors. 
 

 
Making your Views Heard 

 
You can comment on any of the items in this list by contacting the officer shown in column 4. 
You can also submit a deputation to the Cabinet. Full details of how to do this (and the date by 
which a deputation must be submitted) will be shown in the Cabinet agenda. 
 

 
 
LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM: CABINET 2014/15 
 
Leader:         Councillor Stephen Cowan  
Deputy Leader:        Councillor Michael Cartwright  
Cabinet Member for Children and Education:    Councillor Sue Macmillan  
Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration: Councillor Andrew Jones  
Cabinet Member for Finance:      Councillor Max Schmid  
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care:   Councillor Vivienne Lukey  
Cabinet Member for Housing:      Councillor Lisa Homan  
Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion:     Councillor Sue Fennimore  
Cabinet Member for Environment,Transport & Residents Services: Councillor Wesley Harcourt  
 
 
 
 
Key Decisions List  No. 21 (published 19 June 2014) 

Page 67



 

 

KEY DECISIONS LIST - CABINET ON 14 JULY 2014 
The list also includes decisions proposed to be made by future Cabinet meetings 

 
Where column 3 shows a report as EXEMPT, the report for 

this proposed decision will be considered at the private Cabinet meeting. Anybody may make 
representations to the Cabinet to the effect that the report should be considered at the open 

Cabinet meeting (see above).  
 

* All these decisions may be called in by Councillors; If a decision is called in, it will not be capable of 
implementation until a final decision is made.  

 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

July 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Housing Asbestos Surveys 
 
Re-tender of contract for Housing 
Asbestos Surveys, Sampling & 
Monitoring.  

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Stephen Kirrage 
Tel: 020 8753 6374 

stephen.kirrage@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Proposed Outsourcing of 
Commercial Property 
Management Function 
 
Lot 1 of New Property Contract.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Miles 
Hooton 
Tel: 020 8753 2835 

Miles.Hooton@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 68



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Adult Learning & Skills Service  
-  Provision of specialist IT 
services 
 
This report seeks approval for 
expenditure related to the 
provision of specialist 
Management Information Services 
(MIS) for the Council’s adult 
learning service (Adult Learning & 
Skills Service; ALSS). The Tribal 
Group Ltd is a specialist education 
information software and services 
business supplier and has been 
satisfactorily delivering the MIS 
since 2007.  
 
The MIS enables ALSS to track 
individual learners’ progress, 
accreditation and qualifications as 
well as submit funding claims to 
the Skills Funding Agency (SFA), 
a division of the Department for 
Business Innovation & Skills. The 
SFA grant to the Council’s adult 
learning & skills service annually 
exceeds £2.8m. Accurate 
monitoring and accountancy is a 
compulsory requirement for 
performance management, 
continued funding and adherence 
to Ofsted standards.  
 
The Tribal Ltd MIS contract is 
currently valued at £75,924 pa.  

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult 
Social Care 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Kim 
Dero 
Tel: 020 8753 6320 

kim.dero@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 69



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Street Lighting Programme 
 
Seeking approval for the 2014/15 
planned capital street light column 
replacement programme, and 
maintenance work on highway 
assets. 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transpor
t & Residents 
Services 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Ian 
Hawthorn 
Tel: 020 8753 3058 

ian.hawthorn@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Property Asset Data 
Management - Proposed Call-
Off 
 
Seeking approval to a proposed 
call-off contract. 
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Maureen McDonald-
Khan 
 

maureen.mcdonald-
khan@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Future of Coverdale Road 
Residential Care Home 
 
The report will make 
recommendations and share 
outcomes regarding the 
consultation on the future of 
Coverdale Road - which is an H&F 
run residential care home for 
people with learning disabilities in 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult 
Social Care 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Christine Baker 
Tel: 020 8753 1447 

Page 70



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Shepherds Bush.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Christine.Baker@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Royal Mail UK: supplier of Tri-
Borough Lot 1 (outgoing mail) 
 
To approve the appointment of 
Royal Mail UK to supply the 
service of providing outgoing mail 
to the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham, the 
Royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea and Westminster City 
Council  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Sue 
Seal 
Tel: 020 7361 3211 

sue.seal@rbkc.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

3rd Sector Investment Fund 
allocation report 
 
This report seeks Cabinet 
agreement for allocation of the 
LBHF 3rd Sector Investment Fund. 

Cabinet Member for 
Social Inclusion 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 

Reason: 
Expenditure 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 

Page 71



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

more than 
£100,000 
 

Officers recommend funding 
across 8 service areas, for funding 
terms between 17 and 41 months.  
 
 
 
 
 

 will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Contact officer: Sue 
Spiller 
Tel: 020 8753 2483 

sue.spiller@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Draft Charging Schedule 
(DCS) consultation 
 
CIL is a tool to help fund 
infrastructure to support 
development and will be charged 
on most new development 
schemes that create net additional 
floorspace, subject to a number of 
exemptions and reliefs. Once 
established, CIL will run alongside 
Section 106 agreements (S106s) 
which will continue to operate 
where it is necessary to make 
developments acceptable.  
 
The CIL DCS consultation is the 
2nd stage of public consultation in 
the process that will lead to the 
introduction of CIL charges. The 
1st public consultation stage took 
place in September 2012. 
Consultation is proposed for 9 
weeks from July to September 
2014.  
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment,Transpor
t & Residents 
Services 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Rob 
Kryszowski 
 

rob.kryszowski@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Tri-borough Corporate Services 
Review Report 
 
This report describes the 
recommendation and business 
case to establish a Tri-borough 
Corporate Service including an 
Executive Director re-organisation, 
Tri-borough ICT, Tri-borough 
Procurement, Tri-borough Legal, 
Tri-borough Revenues & Benefits 
and Bi-borough Customer 
Services function.  
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jane 
West 
Tel: 0208 753 1900 

jane.west@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 72



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Options Appraisal in Respect of 
an Alternative Provision Bi-
Borough Pupil Referral Unit 
(PRU) 
 
To outline the need for a Bi-
borough PRU (LBHF/RBKC)and 
discusses the property issues 
associated with that proposal.  
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Ian 
Heggs 
Tel: 020 7745 6458 

ian.heggs@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Speech and Language Therapy 
Services - Extension of Service 
Level Agreements (2014-2016) 
 
Requests agreement to extensions 
to the Service Level Agreement’s 
(SLA’s) for speech and language 
therapy services for 2014 - 2016. 
The extenions are required to 
enable a procurment exercise to 
be completed.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mike 
Potter, Margaret 
Murphy 
Tel: 020 8753 2045 

mpotter@westminster.gov.u
k, 
Margaret.Murphy@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 Jul 2014 
 

Maintaining Compliance with 
Public Services Network Code 
of Connection 
 
The Council needs to implement a 
solution for managing the risk from 
unmanaged user devices that is 
compliant with the Public Services 
Network Code of Connection.  
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Howell Huws 
Tel: 020 8753 5025 

Howell.Huws@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 73



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

papers to be 
considered. 
 

September 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

84 - 90 Fulham High Street. 
Lifting of restrictive covenant 
 
To remove a restrictive covenant 
for 28 affordable houses which 
benefits the Council in lieu of a 
financial payment of £1.8m by the 
landowner/ developer to 
implement to current consent.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Palace Riverside 
 

Contact officer: 
Maureen McDonald-
Khan 
 

maureen.mcdonald-
khan@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Commissioning Strategy - 
Careers Information Advice and 
Guidance for young people with 
learning difficulties & 
disabilities and Tracking & 
Surveys 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Page 74



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

 These services will support the 
delivery of Statutory 
Responsibilities to:-  
 
Monitor and track all young people 
16 – 19, as detailed in Section 68 
of the Education and Skills Act 
2008; and  
 
Assess children and young 
people, who are eligible for an 
Education, Health and Care plan 
(by providing the specialist 
knowledge of post 16 options) The 
Children and Families Act 2014.  

Contact officer: Tony 
Young 
Tel: 0207 361 2035 

tony.young@rbkc.gov.uk 

 

of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Change ICT service desk 
supplier and provision 
 
At the end of the HFBP service 
contract the Council will need to 
transition all ICT services to other 
suppliers. By changing the service 
desk earlier than contract expiry, 
H&F will be able to reduce the 
effort, costs and risk and align to 
the one team Tri-borough. This 
paper recommends an early 
transition from the current service 
desk provider to the new service 
desk provider by calling off the Tri-
borough framework contract which 
has the benefit of providing a 
consistent user experience for 
staff.  

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jackie 
Hudson 
Tel: 020 8753 2946 

Jackie.Hudson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 75



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Tri-borough procurement of key 
IT services 
 
This report seeks approval by 
Cabinet for the funding of a 
contribution to the cost of 
undertaking the procurement of 
key Tri-borough IT services, in line 
with the Tri-borough ICT strategy. 
This will lead ultimately to cost 
reductions within IT across the 
three boroughs and also act as a 
key enabler for Tri-borough 
services to make their savings.  
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jackie 
Hudson 
Tel: 020 8753 2946 

Jackie.Hudson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

50 Commonwealth Avenue 
 
Approval to sell 50 Commonwealth 
Avenue as it is surplus to 
requirements and is not suitable 
for letting as substantial repairs 
are required.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Wormholt and White 
City 
 

Contact officer: 
Marcus Perry 
Tel: 020 8753 6697 

Marcus.Perry@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Transfer of 5 properties from 
Environment, Leisure and 
Residents’ Services (ELRS) to 
Housing (HRA) 
 
Approval is sought to transfer the 
properties from ELRS to Housing, 
and thus requiring appropriation 
from General Fund (GF) to the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA). 
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Palace Riverside; 
Ravenscourt Park; 
Sands End 
 

Contact officer: Manjit 
Gahir 
Tel: 020 8753 4886 

Manjit.Gahir@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 76



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Youth Services 2015-2018 - 
contract extension and 
Commissioning Strategy 
 
A report seeking approval to 
extend existing youth service 
contracts until 30 September 2015 
and the Commissioning strategy 
for Youth Services 2015-2018.  

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Lucy 
Pite 
 

Lucy.Pite@lvhf.gog.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Corporate Revenue Monitor 
2014/15 month 2 
 
Forecast Revenue Outturn 
position at end of month two. 
Requests for budget virements.  
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jane 
West 
Tel: 0208 753 1900 

jane.west@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 77



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

1 Sep 2014 
 

Extension and re-tender 
recommendations for Insurance 
contracts 2015 
 
This report seeks approval to 
extend five of seven contract lots 
for insurance for two years in 
accordance with the contractual 
terms at last procurement in 
2012.These allow the Council, at 
its sole discretion, to extend the 
contract terms by a period of up to 
two years until 31st March 2017.  
 
This report seeks approval to re-
procure two of seven contract lots 
for insurance to improve service 
delivery and assurance.  

PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Andrew Lord 
Tel: 020 8753 2531 

andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

October 

Cabinet 
 

6 Oct 2014 
 

ASC Information and 
Signposting Website - People 
First 
 
Discussions and decision around 
rolling out the People First ASC 
information and signposting 
website to LBHF. Currently 
operational in RBKC and WCC.  
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult 
Social Care 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mark 
Hill 
 

mark.hill2@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 78



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet 
 

6 Oct 2014 
 

Draft Hammersmith and Fulham 
Local Plan – Approval of 
consultation document 
 
The Core Strategy and 
Development Management Local 
Plan are being revised in order to 
include new policies for the part of 
the Old Oak area that is within 
H&F. The opportunity is being 
taken to combine the 2 separate 
documents into one document but 
many existing policies remain 
largely unchanged.  
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Transport and 
Technical Services 
 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Pat 
Cox 
Tel: 020 8753 5773 

pat.cox@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 79


	Agenda
	5 Cycling in the Borough
	7 Air Quality
	Item 7 - Air quality appendix 1

	8 Work Programming
	Item 8 - Key Decision list


